
 

 
 

 

 
 

Informal Discussion by Members 
of Area East Committee 
 

 

Wednesday 9th February 2022 
 

9.00 am 
 

A virtual consultative meeting via 
Zoom meeting software 

 

 

 
The following members are requested to attend this virtual consultation meeting: 
 
Robin Bastable 
Hayward Burt 
Tony Capozzoli 
Nick Colbert 
Sarah Dyke 
 

Henry Hobhouse 
Charlie Hull 
Mike Lewis 
Kevin Messenger 
Paul Rowsell 
 

Lucy Trimnell 
William Wallace 
Colin Winder 
 

 
Any members of the public wishing to address the virtual consultative meeting during 
either Public Question Time or regarding a Planning Application, need to email 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Tuesday 8th February 2022. 
 
The meeting will be viewable online at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA 
.  

For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact: 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk 
 

This Agenda was issued on Monday 31st January 2022. 
 
 

Jane Portman, Chief Executive Officer 

 
This information is also available on our website    
www.southsomerset.gov.uk and via the mod.gov app   

Public Document Pack

mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA


Information for the Public 
 
In light of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19), Area East Committee will meet virtually via 
video-conferencing to consider reports. As of 7 May 2021 some interim arrangements are in 
place for committee meetings. 
 
At the meeting of Full Council on 15 April 2021 it was agreed to make the following changes to 
the Council’s Constitution: 
 

a) To continue to enable members to hold remote, virtual meetings using available 
technology; 
 

b) To amend Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Council’s Constitution to allow 
those remote meetings to function as consultative bodies and delegate decisions, 
including Executive and Quasi-Judicial decisions, that would have been taken by those 
meetings if the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 
Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020 had continued in force to the Chief Executive (or the relevant Director in the Chief 
Executive’s absence) in consultation with those meetings and those members to whom 
the decision would otherwise have been delegated under Part 3 of the Constitution; 
 

c) The delegated authority given under (b) will expire on 31 July 2021 unless continued by a 
future decision of this Council; 
 

For full details and to view the report please see - 
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2981&Ver=4 
 
Further to the above, at the meeting of Full Council on 8 July 2021, it was agreed to extend the 
arrangements for a further 6 months to 8 January 2022. For full details and to view the report 
please see -  
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3033&Ver=4 
 
Further to the above, at the meeting of Full Council on 16 December 2021, it was agreed to 
extend the arrangements for a further 6 months to 8 July 2022 for all meetings apart from Full 
Council - Full Council will be in person. For full details and to view the report please see -  
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2991&Ver=4 
 

 

Area East Committee 
 
Meetings of the Area East Committee are usually held monthly, at 9.00am, on the second 
Wednesday of the month (unless advised otherwise). However during the coronavirus pandemic 
these meetings will be held remotely via Zoom.  
 
Agendas and minutes of meetings are published on the council’s website 
www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions 
 
Agendas and minutes can also be viewed via the mod.gov app (free) available for iPads and 
Android devices. Search for ‘mod.gov’ in the app store for your device, install, and select ‘South 
Somerset’ from the list of publishers, then select the committees of interest. A wi-fi signal will be 
required for a very short time to download an agenda but once downloaded, documents will be 
viewable offline. 
 

 

 

https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2981&Ver=4
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=3033&Ver=4
https://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=2991&Ver=4
http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions


Public participation at meetings (held via Zoom) 
 

Public question time 

 
We recognise that these are challenging times but we still value the public’s contribution to our 
virtual consultative meetings. If you would like to participate and contribute in the meeting, 
please join on-line through Zoom at: https://zoom.us/join You will need an internet connection to 
do this. 
 
Please email democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk for the details to join the meeting. 
 
The period allowed for participation in Public Question Time shall not exceed 15 minutes except 
with the consent of the Chairman and members of the Committee. Each individual speaker shall 
be restricted to a total of three minutes. 

 

If you would like to address the virtual consultative meeting during either Public Question Time 
or regarding a Planning Application, please email democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am 
on Tuesday 8th February 2022. When you have registered, the Chairman will invite you to speak 
at the appropriate time during the virtual meeting.   
 
Virtual meeting etiquette:  
 

 Consider joining the meeting early to ensure your technology is working correctly. 

 Please note that we will mute all public attendees to minimise background noise.  If you 
have registered to speak during the virtual meeting, the Chairman will un-mute your 
microphone at the appropriate time.   

 Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total of three minutes. 

 When speaking, keep your points clear and concise. 

 Please speak clearly – the Councillors are interested in your comments. 
 

Planning applications 

 
It is important that you register your request to speak at the virtual meeting by emailing 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Tuesday 8th February 2022.  When you 
have registered, the Chairman will invite you to speak at the appropriate time during the 
virtual meeting.  
 
Consideration of planning applications at this meeting will commence no earlier than the time 
stated at the front of the agenda and on the planning applications schedule. The public and 
representatives of parish/town councils will be invited to speak on the individual planning 
applications at the time they are considered.  

 

Comments should be confined to additional information or issues, which have not been fully 
covered in the officer’s report. Members of the public are asked to submit any additional 
documents to the planning officer at least 72 hours in advance and not to present them to the 
Committee on the day of the meeting. This will give the planning officer the opportunity to 
respond appropriately. Information from the public should not be tabled at the meeting. It should 
also be noted that, in the interests of fairness, the use of presentational aids (e.g. PowerPoint) 
by the applicant/agent or those making representations will not be permitted. However, the 
applicant/agent or those making representations are able to ask the planning officer to include 
photographs/images within the officer’s presentation subject to them being received by the 
officer at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. No more than 5 photographs/images either 
supporting or against the application to be submitted. The planning officer will also need to be 
satisfied that the photographs are appropriate in terms of planning grounds. 
 

https://zoom.us/join
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk


At the committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for up to 
three minutes each and where there are a number of persons wishing to speak they should be 
encouraged to choose one spokesperson to speak either for the applicant or on behalf of any 
supporters or objectors to the application. The total period allowed for such participation on each 
application shall not normally exceed 15 minutes. 
 
The order of speaking on planning items will be: 

 Town or Parish Council Spokesperson 

 Objectors  

 Supporters 

 Applicant and/or Agent 

 District Council Ward Member 
 
If a member of the public wishes to speak at the virtual meeting they must email 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Tuesday 8th February 2022. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Committee shall have discretion to vary the 
procedure set out to ensure fairness to all sides.  
 
 

Recording and photography at council meetings 
 
Recording of council meetings is permitted, however anyone wishing to do so should let the 
Chairperson of the meeting know prior to the start of the meeting. The recording should be overt 
and clearly visible to anyone at the meeting, but non-disruptive. If someone is recording the 
meeting, the Chairman will make an announcement at the beginning of the meeting.  
 
Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. If anyone making public 
representation does not wish to be recorded they must let the Chairperson know. 
 
The full ‘Policy on Audio/Visual Recording and Photography at Council Meetings’ can be viewed 
online at: 
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of
%20council%20meetings.pdf 
 
 
 

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District Council 
under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory functions on 
behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they 
wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. South Somerset District Council - 
LA100019471 - 2022 
 
 
 

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf


 

 

Informal Discussion by Members of  
Area East Committee 
 
Wednesday 9 February 2022 
 
Agenda 
 

Preliminary Items 
 
 

1.   Minutes of Previous Meeting  
 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of Area East Informal meeting held on 12th January 
2022. 

 
2.   Apologies for Absence  

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 

In accordance with the Council’s current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 February 2015), 
which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), personal and 
prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any DPI and also any personal interests 
(and whether or not such personal interests are also “prejudicial”) in relation to any matter on the 
Agenda for this meeting.   

Members are reminded that they need to declare the fact that they are also a member of a 
County, Town or Parish Council as a Personal Interest.  Where you are also a member of 
Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council within South Somerset you must 
declare a prejudicial interest in any business on the agenda where there is a financial benefit or 
gain or advantage to Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council which would be 
at the cost or to the financial disadvantage of South Somerset District Council.   

Planning Applications Referred to the Regulation Committee  

The following members of this Committee are also members of the Council’s Regulation 
Committee: 

Councillors Sarah Dyke, Paul Rowsell and William Wallace. 

Where planning applications are referred by this Committee to the Regulation Committee for 
determination, Members of the Regulation Committee can participate and vote on these items at 
the Area Committee and at Regulation Committee.  In these cases the Council’s decision-
making process is not complete until the application is determined by the Regulation Committee.  
Members of the Regulation Committee retain an open mind and will not finalise their position 
until the Regulation Committee.  They will also consider the matter at Regulation Committee as 
Members of that Committee and not as representatives of the Area Committee. 

4.   Date of next Meeting  
 
Members are asked to note that the next scheduled meeting of the committee will be held 
virtually using Zoom virtual software on Wednesday 9th March 2022. 
 



5.   Public Question Time  
 

6.   Chairman's Announcements  
 

7.   Reports from Members  
 
Items for Discussion 
 

8.   South Somerset Community Accessible Transport Update (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

9.   Community Grant to Brewham Village hall Restoration Project - Phase 2 External 
works (Executive Decision) (Pages 11 - 16) 
 

10.   Phosphates Update (Page 17) 
 

11.   Area East Forward Plan (Pages 18 - 19) 
 

12.   Planning Appeals (For Information) (Pages 20 - 27) 
 

13.   Schedule of Planning Applications to be Considered by Committee (Page 28) 
 

14.   Planning Application 20/03423/FUL - Land East Of Coombe Cross , Stowell Lane, 
Horsington, Templecombe, BA8 0DD (Pages 29 - 55) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Please note that members of the Area Committee will make a recommendation  
on the above reports. The decision will be taken by the Chief Executive. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
South Somerset Community Accessible Transport Update 
 

Strategic Director: Kirsty Larkins, Director of Service Deliver 
Service Manager: Tim Cook, Locality Manager 
Lead Officer: Terena Isaacs, Locality Officer 
Contact Details: Terena.isaacs@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462268 

 
 

 
Purpose of the Update 
 

Representatives from South Somerset Community Accessible Transport will attend 
Area East Committee to provide a brief verbal update on the service and to discuss 
contents of update report provided as appendix A 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



Appendix A 
 
South Somerset Community Accessible Transport 
 
2021-2022 Update for Area East Committee 
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic it is over two years since SSCAT last issued a report to Area 
East Committee to let them know how we are managing our day-to-day operations.  It is now 
appropriate to provide a current update to keep everyone in the picture. 
 
Operations were severely impacted by the pandemic following the Prime Minister’s 
announcement of the first national lockdown on 23rd March 2020.  SSCAT suspended all 
operations and furloughed most of its staff; all hirings and trips for local community groups 
ceased.  A small staff team continued to work from home.  By 7th September 2020, after 
completing all risk assessments and procuring sufficient PPE and sanitizing items, it was 
deemed sufficiently safe to commence offering a reduced service.  This service was limited by 
social distancing rules which restricted carrying capacity to 50% and demanded a rigorous 
cleaning routine.  As a large section of SSCAT members are elderly, many with long term 
health conditions placing them in the ‘at risk’ category, some were reluctant to re-start using 
our services again.  This was exacerbated by second and third national lockdowns.  It was only 
in July 2021 when most restrictions were lifted following the national vaccination programme 
that life slowly started to revert back to normal.  There was a small setback in Dec 21 early 
Jan 22 when the Omicron variant appeared and we experienced a few cancellations over this 
short period, however our users were more resilient this time around and bookings gradually 
picked up again by late January.  Throughout the entire COVID affected period it was 
necessary to keep all vehicles routinely serviced and maintained to keep them legally 
compliant for safe operational use. 
 
SSCAT has enabled numerous passengers to attend their COVID-19 vaccination appointments 
at various centres in the SE Somerset area.  This has continued throughout the whole of 2021 
and into 2022 as the vaccination stages have progressed, including the third (booster) 
vaccinations. 
 
As part of structured vehicle replacement programme, one of our ageing minibuses was sold 
in February 2021 and a new 9-seater wheelchair accessible minibus ordered as a replacement.  
Unfortunately, due to the pandemic, delivery of this vehicle was delayed considerably due to 
a shortage of semi-conductors.  We have only recently received confirmation that this new 
vehicle is expected at our provider for conversion works at the end of January 2022.  We 
anticipate it being available for use following conversion and signwriting by mid-March 2022.  
We were also fortunate to acquire the Winibus when that charity ceased trading in 2021 as a 
consequence of the pandemic and it transferred its assets to SSCAT.  When we take delivery 
of the new vehicle, SSCAT will have a full complement of 5 minibuses. 
 
We did not increase our fares in 2021 as it was considered inappropriate under the existing 
circumstances. However, we have increased fares from January 2022 which was essential for 
SSCAT to cover its ever increasing running costs, in particular, fuel and maintenance.  We are 

Page 8



under increasing pressure to be seen to be ‘paying our way’ and providing evidence of 
financial sustainability. 
 
Fundraising is key to our survival.  We are extremely grateful to the Friends of Wincanton 
Community Hospital who have supported SSCAT very generously over the last few years, 
which has been a lifeline under current circumstances.  We also made a successful bid for 
£15,000 to the Charity Aid Foundation’s Coronavirus Resilience Fund which proved invaluable 
over the lockdown periods.  We have also established a ‘donate’ button on our website 
southsomersetringride.org.uk which is beginning to show some return; in addition, we can in 
many cases reclaim 25p in every £1 through Gift Aid. 
 
The support of local town and parish councils, through an annual precept allocation, is now 
even more important.  In 2021/22 SSCAT received 15 positive responses from the 25 councils 
in the SE Somerset area, amounting to £8800.  This support has proved invaluable in providing 
much needed certainty and continuity of funding. 
 
We have, once again, looked at our costs and made small savings in a few areas.  However, 
our largest costs are vehicle maintenance, fuel and salaries, all of which will increase and are 
unavoidable. 
 
Our revised (for COVID) budget for 2021/22 with the above action and support, is aiming to 
hit break-even.  Budgeting, and keeping income and costs aligned to forecasts, has proved 
especially challenging over the past 18 months and will continue well into 2022. 
 
We have raised over £42,000 over the last 3 years for the smaller 9-seat wheelchair accessible 
minibus mentioned earlier; this currently represents a restricted fund whilst we await delivery 
of the vehicle.   
 
In terms of journey statistics, due to COVID we cannot make side by side comparisons with 
previous years to measure performance, but we can supply the following April to September 
2021 figures: 
          2021   
Total mileage                                      15632 
Total single passenger journeys                            2514 
Total Social Car journeys                       111   
 
SSCAT continues to be the main provider of transport for the neediest members of our 
geographical area and is an invaluable service in the provision of community transport for SE 
Somerset.  Without our accessible vehicles many people would be socially excluded as there 
is no public transport alternative that is affordable for many of our passengers. 
 
There is little doubt that funding of the SSCAT ‘Ring & Ride’ service to cover all operational 
revenue costs, even with the current support from councils and other funders, will continue 
to be challenging.  Local community support is therefore an essential component to our 
survival and is very much appreciated.  We hope to receive your continued support. 
 
 

Page 9



Finally, after four and a half years managing CAT Bus operations, Mike Rowlands, our 
Operations Manager, has decided to retire and he will be leaving the organisation in late 
January/early February.  He will be handing over to Ian Broad who will be the main point of 
contact in the future. 
 
Mike Rowlands      
Operations Manager      
 
 
20 January 2022 

Page 10



 

 
 

 
Community Grant to – Brewham Village Hall Restoration Project -   
Phase 2 External works (Executive Decision) 
 

Strategic Director: Kirsty Larkins, Director of Service Deliver 
Service Manager: Tim Cook, Locality Manager 
Lead Officer: Terena Isaacs, Locality Officer 
Contact Details: Terena.isaacs@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462268 

 
 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
Councillors are asked to consider the awarding of a grant of £10,557 to Brewham Village hall 
Restoration Project, Phase 2 external works. 

 

Public Interest 
 
Awarding grants is a key way that SSDC supports and helps to deliver community projects 
sponsored by Parishes and voluntary community organisations in the towns and villages 
across the district. 
 
Brewham Village Hall has applied to the Area East community grants programme for financial 
assistance with the costs of external village hall improvements.  The Locality Officer is 
submitting this report to enable the Area East Committee to make an informed decision about 
the application and has assessed the application. 
  

 

Recommendations  
 
It is recommended that Councillors award a grant of £10,557 to Brewham Village hall 
Restoration Project, Phase 2 external works (50% total costs), the grant to be allocated from 
the Area East capital programme and subject to SSDC standard conditions for community 
grants (appendix A)  
 

Application Details 
 

Name of applicant: Brewham Village Hall 

Project: Brewham Village Hall Restoration Project – External 
works 

Total project cost: £21,114 

Amount requested from SSDC: £10,557 

% amount requested 50% 

Application assessed by: Terena Isaacs 

 

 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

Community Grants Assessment Score 
 
The table below shows the grant scoring for this application.  Applications must meet the 
minimum score of 22 to be considered for SSDC funding under Community Grants policies. 
 
 

Category Max Score available Officer assessment 
score 

   

A Supports Council Plan/Area Chapter 1 1 

B Supports Equalities & Diversity 1 1 

C Supports Environment Strategy 3 1 

D Need for Project 10 7 

E Capacity of Organisation 15 10 

F Financial need 7 5 

Total 37 25 

 

Background  

 
The Brewham Village Hall Project Team’s aim in restoring the hall is to bring the community 
closer together and to build a more connected, resilient community where individuals feel part 
of, and contribute to, its success.  
 
Creating a modern, flexible, accessible space will mean more people, more often will be able 
to enjoy meeting together. A beautiful, comfortable area outside, where people feel safe to sit 
together and chat is crucial to improving individuals mental health after the isolation and 
distress caused by lock-downs. 
 
Following the successful restoration of the main hall in 2020, Phase 2 (Internal) of the 
restoration project commenced in September and includes reconfiguration of internal space to 
include addition of a multi-purpose room, fully functioning new kitchen, new toilets, new 
electrics and plumbing. The building has been insulated to a high standard and made more 
accessible through levelling of floors and widening of doorways. The restoration will create a 
welcoming, user-friendly and accessible space inside.  Funding for work carried out so far was 
secured via Viridor, Lottery Grant funding, fundraising and community donations.  No funding 
has been sought from South Somerset District Council thus far. 
 
The final stage (Phase 2 External) of the project is to create an outdoor space, which is user 
friendly and a welcoming space for the community.  

 
Parish information 
 

Parish* Brewham 

Parish Population 441 

No. of dwellings 200 

*Taken from the 2011 census profile 
 

 

 

Page 12



 

 
The project  
 
To create a beautiful, comfortable outside space, where people will be able to sit, chat and 
enjoy the views over the churchyard and wider landscape, which is crucial to improving 
individuals mental health after the isolation and distress caused by lock-downs and to 
compliment the newly refurbished hall.  The project includes a new terraced area and 
landscaped garden, repairing and repointing of stonework.  A storage area will be created 
underneath the terrace.  New glazed and widened door will open from the multi-purpose room 
onto the terrace. 

 
 

Local support / evidence of need 
 
 
The Project Team have consulted with the community in planning the restoration. In 2017 
every household in the parish was surveyed to understand their needs in relation to the hall. 
In 2018 a weekend open event presented four different schemes of work and over 100 people 
gave their opinions and feedback that informed the final plans. At the phase 1 opening event 
in March 2020 the phase 2 plans were displayed and discussed. In early 2021, 27 letters of 
support were received and approximately 30 local individuals and businesses have given 
donations towards the works. They have communicated actively with the community via 
Facebook and there has been much engagement, with people expressing their support for the 
restoration, sharing how much they'd missed meeting at the hall during lock-downs and 
suggestions for future events, including food nights and a range of exercise classes. 
 
The hall is a lifeline in the rural, isolated community. There are many elderly people, some 
living alone, who rely on the hall as a place to meet at fortnightly chat and coffee and other 
events. New people have moved in and since Covid more people are working from home and 
looking for social interaction within the community, without the need to drive. 
 
 

Project costs 
 

Project costs Cost £ 

Supply and fitting of new cast iron gutter and downpipe to match 
existing to north 1462 

Supply and install new galvanised steel handrails, balustrades 
and trellis  2698 

Supply and install new external solid timber boarded doors to 
enclose storage area below terrace 3786 

Supply of new reconstituted stone flagstones to top of terrace 
and area below terrace 9481 

Supply of new glazed steel door in new opening to terrace  3687 

  

Total £21,114 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
 
Funding plan 
 

Funding source Secured or pending Amount £ 

Brewham Parish Council Secured 100 

Village Fundraising (Open Gardens & 
Teas) 

Secured 
1500 

Private Donations from Parish 
Residents 

Secured 
5,000 

National Lottery Awards for All Secured 1394 

Garfield Weston Foundation Secured 2563 

SSDC Community Grant Pending 10,557 

   

Total  £21,114 

 
 

Conclusion and Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that a grant of £10.557 is awarded to Brewham Village hall Restoration 
Project, Phase 2 external works. 

 
 

Financial Implications 
 
The balance in the Area East Capital programme is £52,361. If the recommended grant of 
£10,557 is awarded, £41,804 will remain.  
 
Grants are awarded subject to all other funding being secured before the commencement of 
the project and are on a % basis of the full project costs. Payment of the grant cannot exceed 
the grant award and is proportionally reduced if full project costs are under budget.  

 

Council Plan Implications  
 
Council Plan themes and Areas of focus for 2020/24 
  

 Work with our partners to reduce the impact of social isolation and create a feeling of 
community 

 Work with our partners to support people in improving their physical and mental health 
and wellbeing 

 Work with our partners to keep and help our residents feel safe in their homes and 
communities 

 Enable quality cultural, leisure and sport activities 
 
 

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications  
 
The building has been insulated to a high standard to reduce energy wastage.  

 
 

Page 14



 

 
Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
The project aims to provide for people across all age and interest groups in the local 
community.  
 
 

Background Papers 
None 
  

Page 15



 

 

Appendix A 

 
Standard conditions applying to all SSDC Community Grants 
 

The applicant agrees to: - 
 

 Notify SSDC if there is a material change to the information provided in the application. 

 Start the project within six months of the grant offer and notify SSDC of any changes 
to the project or start date as soon as possible. 

 Confirm that all other funding sources have been secured before starting the project, if 
these were not already in place at the time of the application. 
Acknowledge SSDC assistance towards the project in any relevant publicity about the 
project (e.g. leaflets, posters, websites, and promotional materials) and on any 
permanent acknowledgement (e.g. plaques, signs etc.). 

 Work in conjunction with SSDC officers to monitor and share the success of the  
project and the benefits to the community resulting from SSDC's contribution to the 
project. 

 Provide a project update and/or supply before and after photos if requested 

 Supply receipted invoices or receipts which provide evidence of the full cost of the 
project so that the grant can be released. 

 Complete an evaluation survey when requested after the completion of the project. 

 Note that they cannot apply for another community grant for the same project within a 

3 year period of this award. 

 

Standard conditions applying to buildings, facilities and equipment 
 

 Establish and maintain a “sinking fund” to support future replacement of the building / 
facility / equipment as grant funding is only awarded on a one-off basis. 

 Use the SSDC Building Control Service when buildings regulations are required. 

 Incorporate disabled access and provide an access statement where relevant. 
 
 

Page 16



 

 
 

 
Phosphates Update 
 

Strategic Director: Kirsty Larkins, Director of Service Deliver 
Lead Specialist: John Hammond Lead Specialist Built Environment 
Contact Details: John.Hammond@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 
 

 
Purpose of the Update 
 

The Lead Specialist, Built Environment will be attending Area East Committee to give 
a verbal update on Phosphates. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 
 

Area East Forward Plan  
 

Director: Nicola Hix, Strategy and Support Services 
Agenda Coordinator: Michelle Mainwaring, Case Officer (Strategy & Commissioning) 
Contact Details: Michelle.mainwaring@southsomerset.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
This report informs Members of the agreed Area East Forward Plan. 

 
Recommendations 

Members are asked to note and comment upon the proposed Area East Forward Plan 
as attached, and to identify priorities for any further reports  

Area East Committee Forward Plan  

 
The forward plan sets out items and issues to be discussed over the coming few 
months. It is reviewed and updated each month, and included within the Area 
Committee agenda, where members of the Area Committee may endorse or request 
amendments. Members of the public, councillors, service managers, and partners may 
also request an item be placed within the forward plan for a future meeting, by 
contacting the agenda co-ordinator. 
 
Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed, due to the attendance of additional 
representatives. 
 
To make the best use of the Area Committee, the focus for topics should be on issues 
where local involvement and influence may be beneficial, and where local priorities 
and issues raised by the community are linked to SSDC corporate aims and objectives. 
 
Further details on these items, or to suggest / request an agenda item for the Area 
East Committee, please contact one of the officer’s names above. 

 
Background Papers  
 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18

Agenda Item 11



 

 
 

 

Area East Committee Forward Plan 
 
Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed, due to the attendance of additional 
representatives. 
 
Further details on these items, or to suggest / request an agenda item for the Area 
East Committee, please contact the agenda coordinator at 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Meeting Date Agenda Item Lead Officer 
 

TBC  Update on Wincanton Sports Ground Tim Cook – Locality Team Manager 

Page 19

mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

Planning Appeals 
 

Director: Kirsty Larkins, Service Delivery 
Lead Officer: John Hammond, Lead Specialist Built Environment 
Contact Details: John.Hammond@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To inform members of the appeals that have been lodged, decided upon or withdrawn. 

 
Recommendations 
 

That the report be noted. 

 
Background 
 
The Area Chairmen have asked that a monthly report relating to the number of appeals 
received, decided upon or withdrawn be submitted to the Committee. 
 

Appeals Received  

21/01543/HOU - Wynders, Wick Road, Milborne Port DT9 5HF. Proposed Extensions. 
(Delegated Decision) 
 
21/02364/HOU - 11 High Street Ilchester Yeovil BA22 8NQ. Construction of vehicle 
entrance onto the land. (Delegated Decision) 
 

Appeals Allowed 
 
Appeals Dismissed  
 
18/04044/OUT - Land Adjacent To Lovington V C Primary School Lovington Road 
Lovington Castle Cary Somerset. Outline application for the erection of 9 dwellings and 
associated infrastructure works. 
 

Appeals Withdrawn 
 
21/01735/PAMB - Maperton Dairy Unit Maperton Wincanton Somerset BA9 8EN. 
Notification of prior approval for conversion of agricultural barns into 5 residential 
dwellings (C3 use) and ancillary works. (Delegated Decision) 
 

Background Papers 
 

Decision Notices attached. 

 

Page 20

Agenda Item 12



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 1 December 2021  
by Mrs H Porter BA(Hons), MSc PGDip, IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 17th January 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/R3325/W/20/3264973 

Land at Lovington Lane, Lovington, Castle Cary, Somerset, BA7 7PY 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on an 

application for outline planning permission 

• The appeal is made by Mr Justin Trott against South Somerset District Council. 

• The application Ref 18/04044/OUT, is dated 19 December 2018. 

• The development proposed is erection of 9 dwellings and associated infrastructure 

works. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed and planning permission for the erection of 9 dwellings 
and associated infrastructure works is refused. 

Applications for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mr & Mrs Justin and Heather Trott against 

South Somerset District Council. This application is the subject of a separate 
Decision. 

Preliminary Matters 

3. The application was submitted in outline with approval sought for access, 
layout and scale, with matters of landscaping and appearance reserved for 

future consideration. I have treated landscaping shown on submitted plans as 
indicative. 

4. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) came into 

force on 20 July 2021, after submission of the appeal. The parties were given 
the opportunity to comment on the implications of the revised Framework on 

their respective cases. During the course of the appeal, the Council was unable 
to demonstrate a 5 year-supply of housing land1.   

Main Issues 

5. The Council failed to determine the application within the prescribed period. In 
light of all that I have read, I consider the main issues in this appeal to be: 

• The effect of the proposed development on the character and 
appearance of the area; 

 
1 Calculated at 4.7 years (Council’s September 2021 position statement); between 3.66 and 4.7 years (Vail 
Williams Final comments on Council’s Supplementary Statement, December 2021 para 2.2) 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3325/W/20/3264973

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

• The effect of the proposed development on the settings and significance 

of designated and non-designated heritage assets; and 

• The effect of the proposed development on the nutrient levels in the 

Somerset Levels and Moors Ramsar site. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

6. The appeal site comprises a part of an agricultural field off Lovington Lane in 
the rural settlement of Lovington. The appeal site has not been allocated for 

housing in the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 – 2028, 2015 (LP), is located 
outside of any defined settlement development boundaries, and within the 
open countryside. Lovington has access to a primary school and a faith facility, 

two of the key services listed at LP Paragraph 5.39. LP Policy SS2 restricts 
development in rural settlements other than in a limited number of 

circumstances and only where it is commensurate with the scale and character 
of the settlement. LP Policy EQ2 seeks to ensure new development, amongst 
other things, promotes local distinctiveness, conserves, or enhances, local 

landscape character and respects local context. 

7. Lovington is formed of distinct concentrations of built form, punctuated by 

pockets of undeveloped green fields. These features characterise Lovington as 
a small, dispersed settlement in a wider farmed, rural landscape. The appeal 
site’s green, arable nature and the perceptible absence of development affords 

it a sense of rurality. Notwithstanding the site’s relative proximity to the 
primary school and the cluster of development that extends southwards from 

it, the character and landscape qualities of the appeal site cause it to assimilate 
wholly with that of the open countryside.  

8. While the appeal site is proximate to the primary school and the ‘centre of 

Lovington cluster’, its verdant and open nature influences the important 
physical and visual separation between one developed cluster and another. 

While the site’s attributes do not, in my view, qualify it as a ‘valued landscape’ 
per se, they do contribute to a dispersed settlement pattern that is intrinsic to 
the local context, and of value to Lovington’s landscape character. The rural 

qualities of the appeal site and the degree of green separation it provides are 
particularly apparent from the Public Right of Way (PRoW) that runs directly 

across it. 

9. The appeal scheme proposes a courtyard-style development of 9 dwellings laid 
out at the end of a shared driveway off Lovington Lane. Landscaping is a 

reserved matter; yet, even with the realisation of play space provision, private 
gardens and supplementary planting, the scheme would be a not-insignificant 

urban intrusion. Even with a degree of site containment from the highway, the 
surface parking and turning areas, plot subdivision and large L-shaped 12-car 

parking ‘barn’ would, taken together, diminish the site’s characteristically 
verdant, open and undeveloped nature. 

10. The appeal proposal is markedly different to a previous iteration, which 

proposed development along the Lovington Lane frontage. Nevertheless, the 
extant scheme would advance an extension of development onto a punctuating 

green space. Causing a harmful ‘creep’ of built form into the open countryside, 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3325/W/20/3264973

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

the proposal would contribute to a gradual erosion of punctuating open space 

that characterises Lovington as a dispersed rural settlement.  

11. The design rationale seeks to replicate a farmstead-type layout. During my site 

visit, I did see various farmsteads in Lovington, and a variety of building ages 
and architectural styles. However, courtyard-style farms tend to be 
characterised by an informal arrangement of working buildings and working 

yards, together with a farmhouse. Irrespective of the varying dwelling sizes 
and ‘farmhouse’, ‘barn’ and ‘cottage’ house types, the appeal scheme would 

comprise a relatively regimented layout of dwellings fronting a turning/parking 
area, at the end of a long, shared driveway. I consider the layout would be 
contrived, more akin to a suburban cul-de-sac, lacking the authentic informality 

of traditional farm complexes in Lovington.   

12. In spite of changes over time, including development at the former Pilgrims PH, 

local distinctiveness continues to be informed by the dispersed settlement 
pattern characterised by pockets of development punctuated by green fields, 
which the appeal scheme would undermine. I have borne in mind the various 

housing schemes that have been, or are being, developed in Lovington, yet 
none, in my judgement, provides useful comparison to the appeal scheme, in 

terms of its location, context or landscape characteristics.   

13. I therefore find that the proposed development would fail to respect or 
complement the character and quality of the area, and would, notwithstanding 

the proposed use of quality materials, not be designed to achieve a high 
quality. While the harm would be relatively localised, it would be noticeable 

from the adjacent PRoW and would fail to promote local distinctiveness, 
conserve or enhance landscape character, or respect the local context. Conflict 
therefore arises with LP Policies SS2 and EQ2, insofar as, amongst other 

things, these require development respects the character of the settlement; 
promotes local distinctiveness; conserving and enhancing landscape character 

and respecting local context. The proposal would not be sympathetic to local 
character, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, 
thereby also running contrary to paragraph 130 of the Framework. 

Heritage Assets 

14. Section 66(1) of the Act2 imposes a statutory duty on the desirability of 

preserving a listed building or its setting; while the Framework requires great 
weight be given to the significance of a designated heritage asset, which can be 
harmed by development within its setting.  

15. The Grade II listed building known as Lovington School with Adjoining 
Schoolhouse (List entry number: 1277801) is situated just beyond the 

southern corner of the appeal site. Described as early 19th-century, of local 
grey lias with stone dressings, the significance and special interest of the listed 

building lies in its age, architecture, materials and with its historic associations 
as a place of education and master’s accommodation within a small rural 
village. The green and undeveloped fields and open spaces in the vicinity of the 

listed school, which include the appeal site and the larger field it is part of, 
provide a strong link with the building’s rural surroundings and make a 

valuable contribution to its setting.  

 
2 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act) 

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3325/W/20/3264973

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

16. The proposal would give rise to a suburban form of development on the appeal 

site and an associated encroachment of built form and domestic activity within 
the rural setting of Lovington School. As a consequence, legibility of the listed 

building’s rural origins and connection with its verdant, undeveloped 
surroundings would be harmfully eroded.  The Council’s conservation officer 
identified the impact of the proposal on Lovington school as likely to be 

‘negligible’. This is not a word in the Act, Framework nor LP policy. Rather, I 
find that the appeal scheme would fail to preserve the listed building’s setting, 

causing harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset. The degree 
of harm to the setting and significance of Lovington School would, in my 
judgement, be less than substantial, and within the middle of the scale.  

17. The Grade II listed Old Rectory (List entry number: 1346140) is identified as a 
16th-century detached cottage of local grey lias and thatched roof and stands 

on the north side of the B3153 and beyond the wider field of which the appeal 
site is a part. As an example of a dwelling of some local status associated with 
the church and considerable age in a rural village setting, the building’s historic 

associations, architectural execution and surviving historic fabric are all aspects 
of its special interest and significance. Despite the changes over time, 

significance is also derived from the continued legibility of the building’s 
location within a small rural settlement and the agricultural land around it 
forms a part of its setting. 

18. Irrespective of intervisibility or supplementary planting, the appeal scheme 
would reduce the open, agricultural landscape that is of value to the setting 

and significance of the Old Rectory. Some less than substantial harm, albeit at 
the lower end of the scale, to the significance of the heritage asset from 
development within its setting would result.  

19. Failure to preserve the setting of listed buildings runs counter to the statutory 
provisions of Section 66(1) of the Act. Conflict also arises with LP Policy EQ3, 

which seeks to safeguard or enhance the significance, character, setting and 
distinctiveness of heritage assets. In both instances, the degree of harm to the 
setting and significance of designated heritage assets would be less than 

substantial, which the Framework indicates should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal. I turn to this in my overall heritage and 

planning balance. 

20. The Council have identified the appeal site itself as a non-designated heritage 
asset. The significance of the non-designated heritage asset lies in the historic 

interest of extant archaeological remains just below its surface, a remnant of 
Lovington’s settlement evolution and rural land management. Inevitably, the 

proposal would directly harm the non-designated heritage asset through 
instigating modern urban intrusion and activity onto it. Although the scale of 

the harm could potentially be lessened, such as using non-dig foundations or 
permeable surfacing, the proposal would fail to conserve or enhance the 
significance and local distinctiveness of the heritage asset, conflicting with LP 

Policy EQ3.  

Somerset Levels and Moors Ramsar Site 

21. In-combination effects of new development can increase phosphate output and 
have detrimental effects on the Somerset Levels and Moors Ramsar protected 
site, which the appeal site is within the catchment of.  

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3325/W/20/3264973

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

22. The appellant has submitted phosphorus budget calculations, which indicate a 

wetland with surrounding meadow on 0.2ha of additional land will be required 
to achieve phosphate neutrality. It is unclear whether Natural England or the 

Council’s ecologist is content with the mitigation measures proposed, nor how 
the proposed the water treatment infrastructure would be connected and laid 
out. The site may be some 13km from the Ramsar site, however, as the 

competent authority, it would be incumbent on me to carry out the HRA, and 
the information provided is insufficient to ascertain whether mitigation 

measures to control phosphates through water treatment would appropriately 
deal with any adverse effects resulting from the proposals, their effectiveness, 
or that they can be secured.  

23. Given the ‘Dutch-N’ European Court of Justice ruling requires greater scrutiny 
on plans on projects that will increase nutrient loads and may affect habitats 

designated under the Habitats Regulations 2017. Bearing in mind the 
outstanding level of detail, I am not satisfied this issue can be left to a 
Grampian-style condition, nor dealt with through landscaping at the reserved 

matters stage. 

24. The proposed development therefore conflicts with LP Policies EQ4 and EQ7 

insofar as these seek to protect the biodiversity value of internationally 
protected sites and ensure development that, on its own or cumulatively, would 
result in, amongst other things, water quality or other environmental pollution 

that would be mitigated to an acceptable level. It has not been demonstrably 
shown that the proposal would not result in the deterioration of irreplaceable 

habitats; nor that potential significant harm resulting from the development in 
combination with other developments, can be adequately mitigated. 
Consequently, the proposal conflicts with paragraph 180 of the Framework. 

Other Matters 

25. I have found the Council’s contention that the location of the appeal site would 

preclude safe access to services in Lovington lacks substance. I also did not see 
any wall close to the site’s entrance that would be demolished as part of the 
proposals. These matters therefore do not weigh against the appeal scheme.  

26. I note the frustrations of the appellant in their dealings with the Council over 
their proposals. However, this is not a matter for me in deciding the appeal. I 

have seen the alternative site layout provided, but as the appeal process 
should not be used to evolve a scheme I have dealt with the appeal on the 
basis of the drawings that were submitted for determination to the Council and 

on which interested parties’ views were sought. If the Appellant considers 
amending their proposal would result in an improved scheme, they should 

make a fresh planning application. The pre-application and earlier application 
responses I have read concern either a different site or include proposals at 

Church Farm and are therefore not directly comparable. In any case, I have 
reached my decision based on the merits and site-specific circumstances of the 
case before me. 

Heritage and Planning balance 

27. The public benefits of the proposal include the delivery of market housing, 

which would contribute to the provision of homes in the District, in an accepted 
situation where there is a less than five-year housing land supply. The delivery 
of housing on the appeal site would be an area with access to some services 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/R3325/W/20/3264973

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

and facilities, which would boost the supply and choice of homes. Irrespective 

of the extent of the shortfall, the under-supply situation means the delivery of 
nine dwellings would be a significant benefit, which carries heavy weighting in 

favour of the scheme. 

28. The proposal would enhance the local economy, including creating jobs 
associated with the construction stage and new residents are likely to support 

existing services such as the primary school. These beneficial factors would be 
common to any such development and, with no evidence to suggest local 

services are in particular need of the proposal, they carry moderate weight. 

29. However, considerable importance and weight attaches to the desirability of 
preserving the settings of listed buildings, of which two would be harmed by 

the proposals. Less than substantial harm should not be equated with less than 
substantial planning objection. The public benefits associated with the appeal 

proposal do not present cumulatively considerable weight to be added in the 
heritage balance set out in paragraph 202 of the Framework. Additionally, 
statutory duties to preserve listed buildings and their settings have not been 

met. 

30. The proposals are not in accordance with LP Policy SS2, EQ3, EQ4 and EQ7. 

There would be harm to the character and appearance of the site and the 
settlement of Lovington. Irrespective of an absence of harm in respect of 
pedestrian access, the appeal scheme clearly runs counter to the development 

plan, against which planning decisions should be made unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  

31. The Council is unable to demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing land, 
triggering the operation of footnote 8 of the Framework and paragraph 11(d). 
However, my findings in respect of the designated habitats and designated 

heritage assets, in my judgement, provide a clear reason for refusing the 
development, thus, even if I were to conclude there is a shortfall in the five-

year housing land supply on the scale suggested by the appellant, the tilted 
balance does not apply. Even if it did, I consider that, assessed against the 
policies in the Framework as a whole, the adverse impacts of granting 

permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  

Conclusion 

32. For the reasons given above, I conclude that planning permission should not be 
granted and the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Mrs H Porter  

INSPECTOR 

 
 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


3D Eagle Wing 
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Bristol
BS1 6PN

Direct Line: 0303 44 45931
Customer Services:
0303 444 5000

Email:  
West1@planninginspectorate.gov.
uk

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Your Ref:  21/01735/PAMB
Our Ref:   APP/R3325/W/21/3286401

Mr Simon Fox
South Somerset District Council
The Council Offices
Brympton Way
Yeovil
Somerset
BA20 2HT

12 January 2022

Dear Mr Fox,

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Appeal by Hopkins Estates Ltd
Site Address: Maperton Dairy Farm, Maperton, Somerset, BA9 8EN

I enclose for your information a copy of a letter received withdrawing the above appeal(s).

I confirm no further action will be taken.

Yours sincerely,

Jasmine Rogers
Jasmine Rogers

Where applicable, you can use the internet to submit documents, to see information and to check the progress 
of cases through the Planning Portal. The address of our search page is - www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/
appeals/online/search

Page 27

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/appeals/online/search
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/appeals/online/search
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/appeals/online/search
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/appeals/online/search


 

 
 

 
 

Schedule of Planning Applications to be determined by Committee 
 

Director: Kirsty Larkins, Service Delivery 
Lead Officer: John Hammond, Lead Specialist Built Environment 
Contact Details: John.hammond@southsomerset.gov.uk  

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

The schedule of planning applications sets out the applications to be determined by 
Area East Committee at this meeting. 
 

Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to note the schedule of planning applications. 
 

Planning Applications will be considered no earlier than 9.00am. 

The meeting will be viewable online by selecting the committee at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA 
Any member of the public wishing to address the virtual meeting regarding a Planning 
Application need to email democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Tuesday 
8th February 2022. 
 
 

SCHEDULE 

Agenda 
Number 

Ward Application 
Brief Summary 

of Proposal 
Site Address Applicant 

14 
BLACKMOOR 

VALE 
20/03423/FUL 

The erection of 2 No. 
self-build passiv-
houses with 
associated access 
and landscaping. 

Land East Of Coombe 
Cross , Stowell Lane, 
Horsington, 
Templecombe, BA8 
0DD 

Mr & Mrs 
Champ 

Further information about planning applications is shown on the following page and at 
the beginning of the main agenda document. 

The Committee will consider the applications set out in the schedule. The Planning 
Officer will give further information at the meeting and, where appropriate, advise 
members of letters received as a result of consultations since the agenda has been 
prepared.   
 
 
 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 13

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk


 

Officer Report On Planning Application: 20/03423/FUL 
 

Proposal :   The erection of 2 No. self-build passiv-houses with 
associated access and landscaping. 

Site Address: Land East Of Coombe Cross , Stowell Lane, Horsington, 
Templecombe, BA8 0DD 

Parish: Horsington   
BLACKMOOR VALE 
Ward (SSDC Member) 

 Cllr William Wallace Cllr Hayward Burt 

Recommending Case 
Officer: 

David Kenyon (Specialist)  
Tel: 01935 462091 Email: 
david.kenyon@southsomerset.gov.uk 

Target date : 5th March 2021   

Applicant : Mr & Mrs Champ 

Agent: 
(no agent if blank) 

Boon Brown Architects Boon Brown Architects 
Motivo 
Yeovil 
BA20 2FG 
Somerset 

Application Type : Minor Dwellings 1-9  site less than 1ha 
 
REASON FOR COMMITTEE REFERRAL 

This application is referred to Area East Committee for determination at the request of one of 
the Ward Members, and with the subsequent agreement of the Chair. The Ward Member is 
appreciative of the very comprehensive report from the officers concerned and welcomes the 
revised and scaled down plans. However he still believes the build does not concur with policy 
SS2. He also understands that the Council's policies are considered out of date due to the 
Council's failure to reach its five year land supply target. 
 

 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 14



 

 
 

SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 
This application seeks full permission for the erection of two self-build passiv-houses with 
associated access and landscaping. 
 
The application site is approximately 600 metres to the south of the village of Horsington. It 
extends to 0.49ha and comprises part of a larger agricultural field (used for horse & sheep 
grazing) to the east of the dwelling known as 'Coombe Cross' and on the south side of Stowell 
Lane. The site has further agricultural land to the south with commercial units to the east, 
residential garden/parkland to the west and Stowell Lane to the north. The relatively flat site is 
accessed via an existing gated access from Stowell Lane located approximately 20 metres to 
the east of the existing tennis court that falls within the curtilage of Coombe Cross. 
 
Initial concerns have been expressed to the applicants regarding the sizes and scale of the 
proposed dwellings, the extent of application site, and the proposal for each dwelling to be 
served by its own separate access with regard to potential damage to the long term health of 
the Horse Chestnut trees along the northern boundary of the site, which are the subject of a 
Tree Preservation Order.  
 
Subsequently, revised plans have been submitted to the LPA. The proposed dwellings have 
been significantly reduced in size and scale from the original proposals, both now providing 3-
bedroom accommodation with significant elements at single storey scale only. The application 
site area has also been reduced (0.49 hectares) to address expressed concerns regarding 
domestic intrusion into the countryside to the south. The curtilages of the dwellings do not 
extend as far south and there is a "meadow buffer" between the curtilage of Plot 1 and the 
property to the north east. In addition, both dwellings are served by the existing, but improved, 
access. The report below concentrates on the merits of this revised proposal when assessing 
the various considerations.  
 
This detailed application proposes the creation of two dwellings within the application site with 
associated garaging and parking, all accessed from the existing access onto Stowell Lane. 
The proposed dwellings are sited in a gap in the ribbon development of detached dwellings 
that is characteristic of the southern side of Stowell Lane. The dwellings, each having three 

Page 30



 

bedrooms, would be a mix of two storey and single storey in height with pitched roofs. The 
primary pallette of materials would include slate roof tiles, natural stone walls, stone window 
surrounds on the ground floor and oak timber cladding at first floor level. The designs would 
be built to Passiv-house standards. 
 
Extensive off-site landscaping works are proposed on the land outside the application site but 
which is under the applicants' ownership. 
 
The site is not subject to any specific protective designations, such as SSSI, SAC, Wildlife Site, 
Green Belt, AONB, Flood Zone, Conservation Area, Special Landscape Area, nor are there 
any listed buildings in close proximity. The site lies within Flood Zone 1. Reference has been 
made to the protected Horse Chestnut trees that are present along the northern boundary of 
the site alongside the County highway. 
 
HISTORY 
There is no relevant planning history. 
 
POLICY 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), and paragraphs 2, 11 and 
12 of the NPPF state that applications are to be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
For the purposes of determining current applications the Local Planning Authority considers 
that the adopted development plan comprises the policies of the South Somerset Local Plan 
2006 - 2028 (adopted March 2015). 
 

Policies of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028) 
SD1 - Sustainable Development 
SS1 - Settlement Strategy 
SS2 - Development in Rural Settlements 
TA1 - Low Carbon Travel 
TA5 - Transport Impact of New Development 
TA6 - Parking Standards 
EQ1 - Addressing Climate Change in South Somerset 
EQ2 - General Development 
EQ4 - Biodiversity 
EQ5 - Green Infrastructure 
HG4 - Provision of Affordable Housing: Sites of 1-5 Dwellings 
HG5 - Achieving a Mix of Market Housing 
 
National Planning Policy Framework - July 2021 
Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development 
Chapter 4 - Decision-making  
Chapter 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Chapter 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Chapter 12 - Achieving well - designed places 
Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance, including National Design Guide - September 
2019 
 
Other material considerations 
Somerset County Council Parking Strategy (SPS) (September 2013) and Standing Advice 
(June 2017) 
 
 

Page 31



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Horsington Parish Council 
 
Initial comments dated 1st February 2021 
Horsington Parish Councillors have considered this application. 
Two Councillors abstained and the remaining four Councillors are opposed to the application 
on the following grounds: 
 
1. The proposal to construct two substantial 5 bedroom detached properties in this rural setting 
site constitutes over development.  
2. The location of the houses will result in the loss of valuable amenity land. 
3. The development criteria favours "ribbon development" which is inappropriate in this rural 
setting and should not be encouraged. 
4. The design criteria also proposes a "modest traditional" farmstead style but the scale of the 
buildings and proposed building materials suggests the opposite. It is felt that the proposed 
houses would be out of keeping. 
 
The following concerns/ queries were also raised 
1. The development pattern in Stowell Lane is neither characteristic of or constitutes ribbon 
development. Existing properties are informally sited in an open rural setting and were 
originally built as part of one concern many years ago. 
2. The application refers to a farmstead design indicative of other properties in the area. Where 
are these buildings located? Are exercise, winter and wine rooms plus 5 en-suite bedrooms 
typical features of a farmhouse? The scale and building footprint therefore needs justifying.  
3. The real local need is for 2/3 bedroom houses which incorporate design features which will 
facilitate an extensions in the future so growing families can remain in the village. 
4. There are public facilities within walking distance but to reach them the A357 has to be 
crossed and at the closest crossing point the speed limit is 60 mph. In practical terms they are 
not walkable and there are no pavements to provide a safe route. 
5. How will the biodiversity of the site be improved? 
6. If the development costs for Plot 2 are conditional on the sale of Plot 1, i.e. financially can 
one not proceed without the other, then this ground would conflict with housing policy. 
 
Subsequent comments dated 13th August 2021 upon receipt of revised plans relating to 
protection of the chestnut trees along the northern boundary of the site alongside Stowell Lane 
Horsington Parish Council discussed the amended plans for this application at a recent 
meeting and 
Councillors are still opposed to the proposed development for the same reasons as already 
given in the previous responses. 
 
The reasons given on 08/03/2021 were: 
In addition to our original comments regarding this application the Parish Council would like to 
add the following: 
The applicant is now seeking justification to develop under the CSB (Custom and Self Build) 
scheme. The aim of this scheme is to allow individuals access to a register of local serviced 
building plots and give them the opportunity to build their own homes. The intention also being 
to provide affordable and appropriate new housing to meet local housing targets. It is not to be 
exploited as a route to facilitate immoderate residential development. 
 
Further comments dated 14th October 2021 in response to revised plans to reduce the scale 
and design of the proposed dwellings and the extent of the application site 
Horsington Parish Council discussed this application at a meeting yesterday.  
Councillors recognise that the application has been scaled down but are still opposed to the 
proposed development as they feel that the concerns raised in the previous responses still 
apply. 
 

Page 32



 

County Highway Authority 
Standing Advice applies. 
 
SSDC Highway Consultant 
In addition to the SCC comment, the principle of residential development in this location must 
be largely a planning matter to determine. In terms of transport, the ability for residents of the 
scheme to safely access Horsington and bus services on foot needs to be considered having 
regard to movements by children, the elderly, parents pushing prams, wheelchair/buggy user, 
etc., in the absence of footways and lighting on Stowell Lane and the A357. 
The traffic impact of the scheme on the local highway network would not be significant or 
severe. The proposed means of access to the two plots are acceptable. The visibility splays 
shown on the IMA plan are noted but the most relevant splays (i.e. 2.4m x the TANGENT 
POINTS in both directions) as shown on the Boon Brown site plan are the most relevant. I 
agree that visibility splays of 2.4m x 60m in addition to the tangent points would be acceptable 
in this instance. The other points of details, such as the access widths, the proposed surfacing 
of the accesses for the first 5m, surface water drainage, the positioning of the entrance gates, 
on-site parking and turning, etc., are all acceptable. Charging points for each dwelling would 
be required. 
All the above matters of detail can and should be secured by condition in the event that 
planning permission is granted. 
 
SSDC Environmental Health 
No adverse concerns from an environmental health perspective. 
 
County Ecology 
No objections subject to conditions. 
 
SSDC Tree Officer 
The four Horse Chestnut trees have been made the subject of The SSDC (Horsington No 1) 
2021 Tree Preservation Order. In response to the original proposal for two accesses serving 
the dwellings, objection was raised on the basis that there would be unacceptable damage 
caused to the long-term health of the protected trees. 
 
In response to the revised scheme for both dwellings to be served by the one access, no 
objections are raised subject to conditions relating to tree and hedgerow protection and 
landscaping. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Representations have been received from local residents, raising objections and supporting 
the application proposal and some making general comments which are neither in support of 
or objecting to the proposal. These representations can be viewed in full on the website but 
are set out below for convenience. 
 
Wayside, Stowell Lane, Horsington 
17th January 2021 
My property surrounds this site which is in open countryside which should be protected for 
ecological reasons. 
We have an established equestrian stud and it is totalling unacceptable to have families living 
so close with noise and disturbance. 
Other local housing is or was associated with landowners who built the properties for their staff 
connected with that land or business. Some have been sold off but are still being lived in for 
the original reason. 
By his own admission the applicant wishes to live in one as a second home as he lives in 
Switzerland and the second for sale.  
This is not an acceptable reason to build in open countryside. 

Page 33



 

 
4th March 2021 
Wayside, Stowell Lane, Templecombe BA80DD has been my sole property since 2012 before 
that Coombe Cross was my residence from approximately 2000. 
My late Wife and I ran an Equestrian Business from the existing buildings and 30 acres. In 
2012 Coombe Cross was sold with just two adjoining paddocks and another field was sold 
separately leaving us with some 13.5 acres. The cottage Wayside was purchased and 
enlarged see GR370129/123352 and the stables were upgraded together with a barn and 
riding arena. My late wife's existing Bingham's Stud was established here, well known in the 
equestrian world with numerous wins at local, county and national level Shows including Horse 
of the Year. After my wife's death in 2009 I have leased the Equestrian Stud and converted my 
office and the then farm shop into accommodation see again GR370129/123352 in 2012.  
My current tenant has been here since 2014 breeding horses and operating an Equestrian 
Rehabilitation Centre with specialist imported equipment. The young and disabled horses are 
nervous and to have families living so close would mean the business being unsustainable. 
Several years ago, some trees adjacent were being pruned by contractors for the applicant. 
The contractors were using chain saws and one horse was so frightened it was caught up and 
the injuries resulted in his value being halved. She complained to the applicant about this and 
his reply was 'What I do on my land is my own business'. There have been other incidents with 
motorcycles, quads and fireworks. 
The applicants spend most of their time in Switzerland only returning to Coombe Cross for a 
few weeks in a year and by his own admission these houses are only being built for his own 
pecuniary reasons. They cannot be described as local residents.  
Coombe Cross was leased to a company for three years when at times there far too many 
people staying there and the drains which were on my property, were overloaded and after 
warning him I reported the situation. 
The property has been advertised on Air B & B. It has also been let privately at times. 
There are four large Chestnut trees adjacent to the road Stowell Lane. These although old are 
in reasonable health and are an extension to the Preservation Order HORS 23. They are a 
feature of the area and should to be preserved. 
This building site is in open country and planning policy surely prohibits building particularly 
when there is extensive building in Templecombe and prospective building sites within the 
curtilage of Horsington. 
 
7th March 2021 
In addition to my previous comments. 
Having considered the tree planning policy under National Planning Policy Framework ## 15 
para 175 c) The four Chestnut Trees adjoining Stowell Lane although not under the 
preservation order Hor 3 are a feature of the area and are a local historical feature. The trees 
and the immediate surrounding area should be preserved prohibiting any further access to be 
created to the Lane. 
Further to my previous remarks does the Self-build passiv- housing policy mean any green 
piece of land can be built on even if it impacts on an existing long established Equestrian 
Business and that it could start a ribbon development in open countryside. 
 
8th March 2021 
I note the extension to March 31st 2021 and have further considered this matter and agree 
with all the comments made by the Horsington Parish dated February 1st 2021. In addition, 
1) This proposed development is a prime example of unfettered building development in open 
country and is not in keeping with the overall district plan and is out of character with the 
surrounding area. 
2) The district plan clearly asks housing to meet local needs, specifically for affordable housing 
to be developed of 2 and 3 bedroomed houses. These are not within scope. 
3) This development will impact adjacent established land use significantly. Planning was 
granted in 2021 for an equestrian business to be run from the adjacent land. Horses need quiet 
surroundings. In the recent past noise created by the applicant for planning consent resulted 
in severe injury to a horse. These 5 bedroomed houses are within 7 metres of the boundary. 

Page 34



 

4) The applicant in the Tree Survey indicated Chestnut Trees T 4, 5, 6 and 7 in the report. 
They do need urgent work but are in good health. They are not protected under the tree 
preservation order HORS3 but are an extension and a feature of the area and should be 
carefully preserved. 
5) The applicant's house Coombe Cross is advertised currently on Air b&b so the applicant is 
not a permanent resident. This development does not come from the local community in 
accordance with SS2/5.32 and outside of the ' Localism ' agenda. 
 
9th May 2021 
Please withdraw my objections. 
 
31st July 2021 
As a neighbour I welcome the Council's Tree officer's concerns and the resulting safeguard 
concerning the preservation of the Chestnut Trees.  
Studying the revised landscaping and particularly the proposed trees it seems now the 
applicant wants to create a mini park which bears no relationship to the local area.  
The large houses with their landscaping are completely out of keeping. 
It appears the non-resident owner is just wanting to capitalise his asset without regard to the 
neighbourhood. 
Should this application be approved it could create infill on the whole of Stowell Lane. 
 
Wayside Stables, Stowell lane, Horsington 
 
2nd February 2021 
As a tenant of Wayside Stables situated next to the proposed area of building I herewith would 
like to object to the planning application.  
One of the buildings housing a large number of horses is situated just about 7 metres of the 
property border just separated by a livestock fence and a row of trees with thin hedging at the 
bottom. The disturbance due to movements of heavy building traffic during construction and in 
the future by movement from occupants will have a significant negative impact on the safe 
housing of equines in the purpose build barn at Wayside Stables. This building is housing 
broodmares, foals and young stock whose welfare and wellbeing would be greatly impaired. 
Due to the nature of equines they are flight animals and sudden noises or movements will 
encourage the natural flight instinct. Over the past 6 years of my tenancy there have been 
several incidents with machinery or people movement close to the border resulting in injury of 
animals or injury of their handlers due to disruptions from the site of the proposed development. 
One case 2 years ago resulted in a serious injury of a horse which needed 5 people to rescue 
it from a reaction to heavy machinery operating by the fence line. The horse sustained a 
serious injury. Two large dwellings of 4 beds will increase the movements along the entire 
border line to the premises of Wayside Stables significantly and will have a huge impact on the 
safety of the equines kept at the premises. The entire border is just fenced off by a simple 
lifestock fence without any visual breaks.  
The premises Wayside and Wayside Stables have an equestrian tie so equines will be resident 
at the premises. The barn building has been in use as breeding facilities since its erection and 
will not be safe for its purpose with dwellings being erected in close proximity in the future. 
Furthermore grazing land will be lost to create a buffer zone between the border to ensure the 
safety of the animals. 
 
9th March 2021 
Áfter looking at the revised planning application I still have to object as the erection of a house 
very close to the border fence joining Wayside Stables is still the same as before. A house that 
close to the open barn building at Wayside Stables property will diminish the use and purpose 
of the building as housing for horses. The barn has been in use for many years to safely house 
broodmares, foals and young stock and was purposely build for breeding animals. Sudden 
movements, big machinery and loud noises will trigger the natural flight instinct of the horses 
and has already caused serious harm and injury to horses and humans in the past. With 
allowing to build in the proposed area the current use of Wayside Stables as an equestrian 

Page 35



 

property (with an equestrian tie) will not be possible any longer in the full capacity as it is been 
since building the facility. Residential housing close to equestrian housing has caused many 
problems and court cases all over the country and consenting to the application will cause long 
term conflict and damage. 
 
Stowell Hill, Horsington 
 
6th April 2021 
We have resided at Stowell Hill, Horsington, Templecombe, BA8 0DF for the last 16 years and, 
as a local resident who is very familiar with the application site, we are writing in support of the 
above planning application for the following reasons. 
As the founder, owner and Chairman of Dextra Group plc based in Gillingham, I recognise the 
importance of creating jobs to sustain the local economy and it is obvious to me that, as a 
result of excessive levels of phosphates on the Somerset Levels, the current moratorium on 
granting planning approvals on more than 11,000 houses within Somerset will have a 
catastrophic impact on the local economy, particularly in the construction sector. Given the 
seriousness of this problem, I believe that it is the duty of the Local Planning Authority to grant 
planning permission for any reasonable and rational residential schemes that fall outside of 
the Catchment Areas for the Special Protection Area on the Somerset Levels as is the case 
for this application. 
The applicant has owned Coombe Cross for more than 20 years and with a second local family 
they are seeking permission to construct 2 No self-build passiv-houses that will be highly 
sustainable and within easy reach of local amenities. In the context of the current crisis created 
by the phosphate issues these two dwellings will provide a valuable employment opportunity 
for local contractors and I would urge the Parish Council, the Ward Members and the Local 
Planning Authority to consider the bigger picture and fully support this application. 
 
Wilkinthroop House, Horsington 
 
7th April 2021 
The creation of two individually designed passiv-houses on what is an infill site located easy 
reach of the local amenities in Horsington and Templecombe. 
It will not detract from the character of Stowell Lane, and there is a demand for these dwellings. 
The dwellings will provide employment opportunities for local contractors plus overall 
sustainability of the local economy. 
I can see no reason not to support this example for two innovative houses that will make a 
positive contribution to our architectural heritage. 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Principle of Development 
The Council is required to make a decision in line with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6), Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning act 1990). The National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) is a key material planning consideration. 
 
In policy context, national guidance contained within the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that in order to promote 
sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or 
maintain the vitality of rural communities. Furthermore, paragraph 80 advises that planning 
decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or 
more of a certain set of circumstances are met. Such circumstances include (i) there being an 
essential need for rural workers; (ii) enabling development to secure the future of heritage 
assets; (iii) re-using redundant or disused buildings; (iv) subdivision of an existing dwelling; or 
(v) the design of the new dwelling is of exceptional quality. None of those five circumstances 
apply in this instance. 
 

Page 36



 

Policy SD1 of the Local Plan also recognises that, when considering development proposals, 
the Council will take a proactive approach to reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the NPPF and seek to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions within the District. Planning applications that 
accord with the policies in the Local Plan will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Policy SS1 highlights the areas where new development is expected to be focused, grouping 
certain towns and villages into a hierarchy, of settlements including the Strategically Significant 
Town (Yeovil), Primary Market Towns, Local Market Towns and Rural Centres. All other 
settlements are 'Rural Settlements', which Policy SS1 states "will be considered as part of the 
countryside to which national countryside protection policies apply (subject to the exceptions 
identified in Policy SS2)".  
 
Policy SS2 states: 
"Development in Rural Settlements (not Market Towns or Rural Centres) will be strictly 
controlled and limited to that which: 

 Provides employment opportunities appropriate to the scale of the settlement; and/or 

 Creates or enhances community facilities and services to serve the settlement; and/or 

 Meets identified housing need, particularly for affordable housing. 
 
Development will be permitted where it is commensurate with the scale and character of the 
settlement, provides for one or more of the types of development above, and increases the 
sustainability of a settlement in general.  
 
Proposals should be consistent with relevant community led plans, and should generally have 
the support of the local community following robust engagement and consultation.  
 
Proposals for housing development should only be permitted in Rural Settlements that have 
access to two or more key services listed at paragraph 5.41" 
 
Those key services referred to in paragraph 5.41 of the Local Plan are local convenience shop, 
post office, pub, children's play area/sports pitch, village hall/community centre, health centre, 
faith facility and primary school. 
 
Horsington is defined in the Local Plan as a Rural Settlement, where development will be 
strictly controlled. The starting point for considering development in Rural Settlements is Policy 
SS2 of the South Somerset Local Plan. The proposal is contrary to that policy, as it does not 
provide employment opportunities, create or enhance community facilities and services, or 
meet an identified housing need. 
 
However, as SSDC cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of housing land, elements 
of that policy must be considered out of date. As such, it is considered that the LPA cannot 
rely on the proscriptions of that policy in regard to what the development must provide (e.g. 
meeting an identified housing need). 
 
Policy guidance clearly encourages new housing to be located with good accessibility to 
existing or proposed local shops, community facilities and primary schools and with good 
connection to public transport. The application site lies within a very small sporadic group of 
housing both visually and physically separate from the main village of Horsington to the north, 
the nearest large settlement with access to essential key services, along a narrow country road 
with no pavements or street lights. The site is not immediately close to any bus stop and is not 
on a recognised bus route.  
 
As a point of reference, the site is located to the south of Horsington. In terms of access by 
foot, it lies approximately 700 metres from a children's play area and approximately 800 metres 
from a public house. There is a religious building approximately 1060 metres from the site, and 

Page 37



 

the nearest bus stop to Wincanton and Templecombe is approximately 430 metres from the 
site. Government guidance, in its "National Design Guide" (September 2019), defines 
'walkable' distances to local facilities being generally no more than a 10 minutes walk (800 
metres radius). However, this is guidance only.  
 
As stated above, the Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply 
of deliverable housing sites and that, pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Framework, the weighted 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged. The proposed development 
would make a contribution towards meeting the housing shortfall within South Somerset. This 
would be a social and economic benefit. There would also be a limited and temporary 
economic benefit during the construction phase. However, due to the small scale of the 
development, such benefits would be moderate in scale. On balance, the principle of the 
proposed development on the application site is considered to be acceptable. This balance 
tilts in favour of the proposal having regard also to considerations about self-build. 
 
Self-build 
In support of the application, the applicants Mr and Mrs Champ, have advised that this proposal 
would be a self-build project. The applicants have lived in the property known as 'Coombe 
Cross' for the past 20 years. 'Coombe Cross' is a large country house set within more than 10 
acres which has become difficult to manage, such that in 2020 the applicants instructed Knight 
Frank of Sherborne to actively market the property, which continues today.  
 
If the application is successful then the applicants intend to construct and occupy Plot 2 as a 
'Self- 
Build' under the provisions of the Self-Build and Custom House Building Act 2015, which is 
recognised and promoted by SSDC. This would allow the applicants to remain within the area. 
 
In respect of Plot 1, terms have been agreed to sell the site to a Mr and Mrs Brown, who have 
lived and worked in South Somerset for more than 40 years. They have been closely involved 
in the bespoke design of Plot 1 and are also committed to its construction and occupation as 
a self-build 
dwelling within the definition of the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act. 
 
Both Mr and Mrs Champ and Mr and Mrs Brown are included on SSDC's Self-Build Register. 
They are both willing to enter into joint or separate section 106 obligations, by agreement with 
the LPA or by unilateral undertaking, which-ever the LPA would prefer, but in any event 
containing the following covenants by the owner/self-builder: 
 
1. The Construction of the Residential Units shall be for Self-Build Dwellings. 
2. The first occupation of each Residential Unit shall be by the Person or Persons who had a 
primary input into the final design and layout of each Residential Unit. 
3. In parallel with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations the person or persons 
occupying each Residential Unit under the terms of clause 2 above will occupy the Residential 
Unit as his/her sole or main residence for a minimum period of 3 years from completion of the 
development. 
 
It is acknowledged that self-build and custom housebuilding being an important part of the 
Government's strategy to boost housing supply. The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 
2015 has been amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016. The latter now provides a 
legal definition of self-build and custom housebuilding and does not distinguish between self-
build and custom housebuilding. The definition provides that both are where an individual, an 
association of individuals, or persons working with or for individuals or associations of 
individuals, build or complete houses to be occupied as homes by those individuals. However 
it does not include the building of a house on a plot acquired from a person who builds the 
house wholly or mainly to plans or specifications decided or offered by that person. Therefore, 
in considering whether a home is a self-build or custom build home, relevant authorities must 
be satisfied that the initial owner of the home will have primary input into its final design and 

Page 38



 

layout. In this respect, mindful this is a fully detailed application (as opposed to merely being 
an outline proposal) with detailed drawings having been submitted showing scale, design, 
appearance and external finishing materials of both proposed dwellings, there is no reason to 
doubt the statement of the applicants' intentions in this regard. 
 
The Council is more than meeting the demand on the Register and is only required by law to 
grant planning permission for enough serviced plots to meet the demand on the Register. 
Nevertheless, as part of this application proposal, the applicants have offered to sign a legal 
undertaking that the development will be a self-build project. This adds weight, albeit limited, 
to the acceptability of the proposal. 
 
Visual Amenity 
The site is not located in a particularly sensitive location from a visual amenity or conservation 
point of view in terms of being in a landscape policy area such as an Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty or a Conservation Area. There are residential properties and other buildings 
within the vicinity of the site, with no strong design qualities and of varying sizes, appearances 
and materials of construction. The proposed dwellings are considered to be at an appropriate 
scale for the site and, once constructed, would not appear as an incongruous form of 
development. Their two storey ridge heights would not be out of keeping with other 2 storey 
development in the area. Furthermore, the proposed materials are considered to reflect those 
used in the locality which would further assist in the integration of the new dwelling into the 
overall landscape.   
 
In terms of considering the long term health of the protected Horse Chestnut trees, the 
Council's Tree Officer raised concern about the original proposal for two separate accesses 
serving the properties. In response to the revised proposal for the existing access to be 
improved in order to serve both properties, he advises that the verge adjoining the northern 
side of the protected roadside trees has a reasonable depth. This, combined with the distance 
of any new build or engineering works from those trees, means that the trees could be 
sustainably accommodated within the proposed development. Whilst some new tree and 
hedgerow planting proposals have been submitted, this is not in any specific detail. Mindful of 
this, the Tree Officer recommends no objections to the proposal subject to the imposition of 
conditions relating to tree and hedgerow protection measures and new landscaping details all 
to be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  
 
In addition, in order to safeguard the character and appearance of, not only the development 
itself, but that of the wider locality, conditions are recommended seeking specific details of the 
external finishing materials, external lighting, and also removing 'permitted development' rights 
relating to extensions and alterations to the dwellings (including the construction of dormer 
windows or other roof alterations), outbuildings, and erection of means of enclosure.  
 
As such, subject to the imposition of the above conditions, whilst the proposed development 
would have an impact on the wider landscape character and appearance of the area in terms 
of not being totally screened, nevertheless it is considered that no demonstrable harm would 
accrue that would justify a refusal of permission in terms of visual amenity. The proposal would 
be in compliance with Policies EQ2 and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant 
guidance within the NPPF.  
 
Impact on Highway Safety 
Policy TA5 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that the expected nature and volume of traffic 
and parked vehicles generated by the proposed development would not have a detrimental 
impact on the character or amenity of the area and would not compromise the safety and/or 
function of the local road network in terms of both volume and type of traffic generated. 
 
Policy TA6 states that parking provision in new development should be design-led and based 
upon site characteristic, location and accessibility. The parking arrangements within SCC's 
parking Strategy will be applied within the District. 

Page 39



 

 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
Paragraph 108 of the NPPF advises that maximum parking standards for residential and non-
residential development should only be set where there is clear and compelling justification 
that they are necessary for managing the local road network. 
 
No highways objections have been raised by the County Highway Authority or SSDC's 
Highway Consultant. The latter expresses the opinion that the traffic impact of the scheme on 
the local highway network would not be significant or severe and the proposed means of 
access to the two plots are acceptable. The extent of visibility splays, the access widths, the 
proposed surfacing of the accesses for the first 5 metres, surface water drainage, the 
positioning of the entrance gates,and  on-site parking and turning, etc., are all acceptable and 
can be secured by condition. In addition, charging points for each dwelling would be required. 
Such recommended conditions are considered to be reasonable and appropriate. 
 
As a general point of principle, and to reiterate the comment made by the Highway Consultant, 
it is considered that traffic likely to be generated by two extra dwellings at this location would 
not, in itself, give rise to a significant detrimental impact to the safety or operation of the 
highway in this vicinity. Therefore, from a highways perspective, the impact on the reliance on 
transport by private car for the new dwellings would not represent a severe detriment to the 
highway in view of the guidance presented in the NPPF, and therefore not grounds on which 
to form a robust objection in term of the impact on the safety or operation of the highway. 
 
It is considered there are no justifiable reasons for a refusal on highways grounds. The 
proposal does not conflict with Policies TA5 and TA6 of the Local Plan nor relevant highway 
safety guidance within paragraph 111 of the NPPF. 
 
Residential Amenity 
There are no nearby neighbouring residential properties that would be adversely affected by 
the proposed development. Indeed, there have been no objections raised from any third parties 
to the proposal on the grounds of loss of amenity. The size of the site is considered adequate 
for a scheme of two dwellings and the proposed siting, scale, height, design and appearance 
of the new buildings would not result in any substantive harm to neighbour amenity in terms of 
significant and unacceptable dominance, overshadowing, overlooking, loss of privacy and loss 
of outlook.   
 
Objections have been raised from the owner and tenant of Wayside Stables located to the 
north east of the application site and these have been set out in extensive detail elsewhere in 
this report. Such objections relate to the impact such development will have on the future health 
and welfare of the horses accommodated there, both in the short term during the construction 
phase, and long term thereafter and complaints may be generated by future residents of the 
dwellings about the noise, smells, etc associated with an equine establishment in close 
proximity. 
 
Local Plan Policy EQ2 requires development proposals to protect the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties. Mindful of the objections that have been raised from the owners and 
tenant of Wayside Stables in respect of unacceptable relationship between the new residential 
units and the equestrian activities being carried out at Wayside Stables, the Council's 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has been consulted about the application. The EHO has 
considered the application and the objections that have raised and has responded by advising 
that there are no adverse comments to be made from an environmental health perspective.  
 
Mindful that there is to be an 'amenity' gap between the nearest proposed dwelling and the 
stables complex, it is considered that the proposal would not cause unacceptable detriment to 

Page 40



 

the equestrian usage of the neighbouring site, nor vice versa would there be any resultant 
unacceptable detriment to future occupiers of the proposed residential unit resulting from those 
neighbouring horse-related activities. As such, there would be no unacceptable impact on the 
residential amenities of the future occupiers of the proposed dwellings in terms of noise and 
odour pollution. 
 
The proposal would be in compliance with Policy EQ2 of the South Somerset Local Plan and 
relevant guidance within the NPPF.  
 
Biodiversity 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on 
wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (Habitats Regulations 
2017). Policy EQ4 of the Local Plan also requires proposals to pay consideration to the impact 
of development on wildlife and to provide mitigation measures where appropriate.  
 
The County Ecologist has had due regard to the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
prepared by Greenwood Ecology & Countryside Management to inform potential residential 
development on the application site. 
 
Habitats 
 
Modified (improved) grassland 
The majority of the application site comprises modified (improved) grassland which, from 
Google Earth historic photos, appears to have been used for sheep grazing since at least 2001. 
Aerial photographs also show clear evidence of agricultural improvement; most likely 
cultivation of agricultural grassland.  
 
The grassland within the site does not meet the criteria of a habitat of principal importance for 
nature conservation, nor does it appear on the South Somerset Biodiversity Action Plan. The 
quality and ecological value of the grassland is hindered by low floral diversity, grazing and 
past cultivation/reseeding and is therefore considered to be currently of no more than site 
value. 
 
Trees 
Whilst not located within the application site itself, a row of poplar (Populus sp.) trees is present 
along the site's eastern boundary, separating it from the adjacent stables/commercial yard. 
These trees show a history of being pollarded and are a non-native UK species. 
 
Four mature horse chestnut (Aesculus hippocastanum) trees are present along the site's 
northern boundary along Stowell Lane. Horse chestnut is also a non-native species, although 
the trees have an intrinsic ecological value due to their age and potential to support protected 
species.  
 
A single Monterey cypress (Cupressus macrocarpa) is present to the west of the existing field 
access gateway. A non-native species, this tree is considered to be of limited value to 
biodiversity.  
 
The row of poplars is considered to be of no more than site value whereas, on account of their 
age/structure, the horse chestnuts are considered to be of local value (and indeed are subject 
to a TPO). 
 
Hedgerow 
The northern site boundary contains a species-poor and defunct native hedge. The hedge is 
'gappy' and not continuous in nature, currently being impacted by heavy shading from the 
horse chestnut trees. Hedgerow species present include predominately hawthorn (Crataegus 

Page 41



 

monogyna) with some elder (Sambucus nigra) and seedlings of sycamore (Acer 
pseudoplatanus) and ash (Fraxinus excelsior). A single small fig (Ficus carica) tree is present 
at the hedge's western end.  
 
The hedge is considered to be species-poor and, the low abundance of species coupled with 
its defunct nature, means that it is not considered important under the Hedgerow Regulations 
1997. This hedge is therefore considered to be of no more than site value. 
 
Other boundaries 
Part of the southern site boundary is formed by a wooden post and rail fence, with the 
remainder being continuous with the wider agricultural field. The western boundary is formed 
by a stock fence, with dry ditch and stone retaining wall behind. Beyond this, a mature cypress 
hedge screens the application site from the neighbouring residential property and gardens. 
 
Species 
 
Invertebrates  
The lack of habitat and floral diversity within the application site, coupled with its current 
management regime, means that it is unlikely to support important populations of invertebrate 
species. The site is unlikely to be of more than site value in relation to its invertebrate interest. 
 
Amphibians 
Ordnance survey mapping shows two standing waterbodies within the great crested newt core 
dispersal distance of 250 metres. There are two further waterbodies within the 250 metres and 
500 metres range (320 metres and 400 metres), although both of these are on private land 
and access was not available at the time of the site survey. Both of these more distant ponds 
are separated by the application site by roads (including the main A357). 
 
Both ponds have been subject to a Habitat Suitability Index (HSI) assessment and have been 
categorised as having 'poor suitability' to support great crested newts. 
 
Furthermore, the data search has not returned any records of great crested newts within 1 km 
of the application site. Given the lack of records and the unsuitability of the short-grazed 
grassland within the site, it is considered highly unlikely that great crested newts are present 
and therefore the site is considered to be of negligible value for this species. 
 
Reptile 
The grassland in its current short-grazed condition does not provide suitable habitat for reptiles 
and does not offer the optimal hibernation or foraging opportunities that these species require. 
It is considered highly unlikely that reptiles are present on site. 
 
Birds 
The current land-use makes the grassland sub-optimal for bird foraging habitat. The lack of a 
varied vegetation sward also precludes the presence of ground-nesting birds such as skylark. 
The trees on the site boundaries do provide good quality bird nesting habitat for a variety of 
species. Overall, however, it is unlikely that the site is of more than site value for birds. 
 
Bats 
There are numerous bat records from within the 4 km of the site, although no records of any 
bats within 600 metres of the application site boundaries.  
 
In terms of roost potential, there are no buildings or structures within the application site. Also, 
none of the poplar trees along the site's eastern boundary provide any suitable potential roost 
features for bats, as a result of their age and past pruning. Furthermore, the Monterey cypress 
that is scheduled for removal does not contain any potential roost features. Two of the mature 
horse chestnut trees contain rot holes that have the potential to support roosting bats, although 
there is no evidence of recent or past bat presence having been recorded. This lack of 

Page 42



 

evidence, however, cannot categorically rule out the sporadic and occasional non-breeding 
usage of these features during the summer months.  
 
The scheme has been designed to ensure that both of these trees will be retained within the 
development proposals and measures are recommended in the submitted ecological report to 
protect these trees during the construction phase of development, including a repeat inspection 
to be undertaken prior to any work taking place within the vicinity of these trees. In addition, 
the Council's Tree officer has recommended a condition relating to tree protection works 
 
With regard to foraging and commuting habitat, the grassland within the site does not provide 
optimal foraging habitat for bats given the lack of species diversity and sward structure. There 
is no recent history of cattle grazing on site, and there are no records of greater horseshoe 
bats within 4 km of the application site. It is likely however, that bats that are roosting in the 
local area make use of the site boundary features (excluding the post and rail fence), as flight 
corridors when moving between their roosts and preferred foraging areas. 
 
Badger 
No evidence of badger presence (setts, prints, foraging signs, latrines or hairs) has been 
recorded and it is unlikely that badgers are regularly using the site for foraging purposes. 
 
Otter and Water Vole  
The application site does not contain, or is in close proximity to, any standing water, rivers or 
streams. It does not, therefore, contain habitat suitable to support either otters or water voles. 
 
Dormice 
No evidence of dormouse activity was recorded during the site survey (i.e. summer nests or 
feeding remains). The defunct nature of the northern site hedge, coupled with its lack of 
connectivity to nearby woodland areas, mean that dormice are unlikely to be present. 
 
Based on the survey's overall assessment, the County Ecologist advises that a landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) should be produced for the site to ensure the long-term 
favourable management of retained and created habitat features. A condition requiring the 
submission of a LEMP is recommended.  
 
In addition, there are ecological constraints for nesting birds, bats and potentially for foraging 
badgers. With that in mind, a condition requiring the submission of a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) is recommended. 
 
The existing boundary and new boundary features which the development is proposing are 
likely to serve as commuting and foraging areas for various species of bats. A condition is 
recommended requiring the submission of a lighting design for bats in order to safeguard such 
areas. 
 
Finally, a condition is recommended requiring the implementation of various ecological 
enhancement measures. 
 
As such, with the imposition of these recommended conditions, the proposal does not conflict 
with Policy EQ4 of the Local Plan or relevant guidance within the NPPF. 
 
Flooding and Drainage 
The site lies within Flood Zone 1. It is considered that the current proposal does not conflict 
with Policy EQ1 and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 
 
Somerset Levels and Moors - Phosphates 
The Somerset Levels and Moors are designated as a Special Protection Area (SPA) under the 
Habitats Regulations 2017 and listed as a Ramsar Site under the Ramsar Convention. The 
Ramsar Site consists of a number of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) within what is 

Page 43



 

the largest area of lowland wet grassland and wetland habitat remaining in Britain, within the 
flood plains of the Rivers Axe, Brue, Parrett, Tone and their tributaries. The site attracts 
internationally important numbers of wildlife, including wildfowl, aquatic invertebrates, and is 
an important site for breeding waders. 
 
Natural England has written to various Councils in Somerset (including SSDC) advising about 
the high levels of phosphates in the Somerset Levels and Moors that are causing the interest 
features of the Ramsar Site to be unfavourable, or at risk, from the effects of these high levels. 
This is as a result of a Court Judgement known as the Dutch N case, which has seen a greater 
scrutiny of plans or projects by Natural England, regarding increased nutrient loads that may 
have a significant effect on sites designated under the Habitats Regulations 2017 (including 
Ramsar Sites).  
 
A significant area of South Somerset falls within the catchment. However, the application site 
lies outside this catchment area. Thus the proposed development would have no adverse 
impact on the Somerset Levels and Moors. 
 
Other Matters 
Objections have included reference precedence and there being no need for the development. 
 
In terms of the precedent argument, each application must be considered on its own merits. 
 
In terms of the opinion expressed that there is no need for the development, the Government's 
aims and aspirations are to boost the supply of deliverable housing, as evidenced in the 
guidance set out in the NPPF. The District Council cannot currently demonstrate a deliverable 
five year housing land supply and thus, pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Framework, the 
weighted presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged. The proposed 
development would make a contribution, albeit very small, towards meeting the housing 
shortfall within South Somerset. This would be a social and economic benefit. There would 
also be a limited and temporary economic benefit during the construction phase. However, due 
to the small scale of the development, such benefits are considered to be moderate. 
Nevertheless, this weighs in favour of the proposal and runs counter to the claim that there is 
no need for new housing development. 
 
Planning obligations and CIL 
As this proposal is for less than 10 units the LPA will not be seeking any contributions towards 
leisure and recreational facilities or other local or district wide obligations, in accordance with 
the High Court of Appeal decision (SoS CLG vs West Berks/Reading) made in May 2016, 
which clarifies that Local Authorities should not be seeking contributions from schemes of 10 
units or less. For the same reason the LPA does not seek any affordable housing obligation.  
 
As of 3rd April 2017, the Council adopted CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy), which is 
payable on all new residential development (exceptions apply). The proposed development is 
subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy. It must be for the developer to establish, at the 
appropriate juncture, whether any exemptions or relief applies. 
 
Conclusion 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that where regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under 
the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable in this location, and would cause no significant 
and demonstrable adverse impact on the character of the area, visual amenity, residential 
amenity, highway safety, flood risk, biodiversity or on the Somerset Levels and Moors Ramsar 
sites. As such, it accords with Policies SD1, SS1, SS2, EQ1, EQ2, EQ4, EQ5, TA1, TA5 and 
TA6 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance in the NPPF and is 

Page 44



 

recommended for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Subject to the prior satisfactory completion of a planning obligation by way of unilateral 
undertaking made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
requiring that the development will be a self-build project, permission be granted for the 
following reason: 
 
01. The proposal is considered to be acceptable in this location, and would cause no 
significant and demonstrable adverse impact on the character of the area, visual amenity, 
residential amenity, highway safety, flood risk, biodiversity or on the Somerset Levels and 
Moors Ramsar sites. As such, it accords with Policies SD1, SS1, SS2, EQ1, EQ2, EQ4, EQ5, 
TA1, TA5 and TA6 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance in the NPPF. 
 
SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING: 
 
01. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: To accord with the provisions of section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990. 
 
02. Except for any details which require the submission of additional information being the 

subject of any condition attached to this permission, in all other respects the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
drawings:  

  
 Drawing no. 4187-LP-01 Rev A: Location Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-001 Rev I: Proposed Site Layout 
 Drawing no. 4187-1001 Rev A: Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-1002 Rev A: Proposed First Floor Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-1003: Plot 1, Proposed Elevations. Sheet 1 
 Drawing no. 4187-1004: Plot 1, Proposed Elevations. Sheet 2 
 Drawing no. 4187-1005: Proposed Roof Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-1006: Plot 1, Typical Sections. Sheet 1 
 Drawing no. 4187-1007: Plot 1, Typical Sections. Sheet 2 
 Drawing no. 4187-2001 Rev B: Ground Floor Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-2002 Rev B: First Floor Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-2003: Plot 2, Proposed Elevations. Sheet 1 
 Drawing no. 4187-2004: Plot 2, Proposed Elevations. Sheet 2 
 Drawing no. 4187-2005: Roof Plan 
 Drawing no. 4187-2006: Plot 2, Typical Sections. 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
03. For the avoidance of doubt, the extent of curtilages afforded to each dwelling shall be as 

highlighted by the light green shading bounded by hedge planting along the respective 
southern, eastern and western boundaries of each curtilage, as indicated on drawing no. 
4187-001 Rev I. The land coloured dark green and indicated as 'Meadow Mix' and 'Shade 
Meadow Mix' on said drawing shall at no time become part of the curtilage of either 
dwelling and shall remain as open amenity land.   

  
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to provide an adequate 

"buffer" between the residential activities and those of the adjoining equine business, 
having regard to Policies EQ2 and EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant 
guidance within the NPPF.  

 

Page 45



 

04. No development shall take place until details of all existing levels on the site and 
proposed levels on the site (including ground floor levels, eaves and ridge heights of the 
new dwellings and garages) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 

  
 Reason: A pre commencement condition is considered necessary to enable the Local 

Planning Authority to assess existing and proposed site and floor levels and eaves and 
ridge heights to ensure that the new dwellings hereby permitted do not have an 
unacceptable dominant impact on the character and appearance of the locality and visual 
amenity in general, having regard to Policy EQ2 of the South Somerset Local Plan and 
relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
05. Notwithstanding the details set out within the submitted draft "Tree Survey and 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment" document, there shall be no commencement of any 
site clearance, removal of trees or hedgerows, or building operations of any type, nor 
shall equipment, heavy machinery or materials be brought onto site (including on the 
land edged in blue on the approved Location Plan no. 4187-LP-01) until a scheme for 
the protection of all retained trees and hedges, in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees 
in relation to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations, including a 
tree/hedgerow protection plan (TPP) and an arboricultural method statement (AMS), has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 The tree and hedge protection measures within the scheme within the TPP and AMS 

shall include and make reference to the following issues: 
  
 (a) Numbering and detailing of all retained trees and hedges on the sites edged in red 

and blue as indicated on the approved Location Plan no. 4187-LP-01 Rev A, confirming 
their respective root protection areas (RPA's). 

 (b) A specification for protective fencing and dust containment measures to safeguard 
trees and hedges on the sites edged in red and blue as indicated on the approved 
Location Plan no. 4187-LP-01 during any construction phases and a plan indicating the 
alignment of the protective fencing, the position of such fencing to be a minimum of three 
metres in from boundary of the site. Such fencing shall be installed to the extents of the 
RPA's or as may otherwise be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 (c) A full specification for the installation of boundary treatment works. 
 (d) A sequenced scheme of supervisory monitoring of the installation and maintenance 

of protective measures and the supervision of specialist working techniques by a 
competent Arboriculturalist. 

  
 Reason: The agreement of a scheme for the protection of all retained trees and hedges 

prior to the commencement of works is fundamental to satisfy the Local Planning 
Authority that the trees and hedges to be retained will not be damaged during 
construction thus retaining continuity of tree cover and maintaining and enhancing the 
quality and character of the area, including ecological, environmental an biodiversity 
benefits, having regard to Policies EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 
and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
06. The scheme for the protection of all retained trees and hedges on the application site 

edged in red and the adjoining land edged blue as indicated on the approved Location 
Plan no. 4187-LP-01 Rev A, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority pursuant to condition 05, shall be implemented and completed in strict 
accordance with the approved details, and the applicant's appointed competent 
Arboriculturalist shall inspect and confirm in writing to the Local Planning Authority that 
the approved tree and hedgerow protection measures (in particular, any required 
fencing, signage and ground-protection installations) are installed to the required 
approved standard, prior to any development works commencing. 

Page 46



 

  
 Thereafter, the approved scheme shall be kept in place until all parts of the development 

have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been 
removed from the site. 

  
 Reason: The implementation and completion of an approved scheme for the protection 

of all retained trees and hedges, and confirmation in writing from a competent 
Arboriculturalist that such an approved scheme has been carried out to an approved 
standard, prior to the commencement of works is fundamental to satisfy the Local 
Planning Authority that the trees and hedges to be retained will not be damaged during 
construction thus retaining continuity of tree cover and maintaining and enhancing the 
quality and character of the area, including ecological, environmental an biodiversity 
benefits, having regard to Policies EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 
and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
07. At no time during the construction phases of the development hereby permitted shall the 

following works be carried out within the Root Protection Areas (RPA as defined in 
BS5837:2012) of any retained tree and hedgerow, except with the prior written approval 
of the Local Planning Authority: 

  
 (a) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 4, Class A of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended) (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), no materials, 
equipment, machinery or structure shall be attached to or supported by a retained tree 
or hedgerow within said RPA and no materials shall be stored, temporary buildings 
erected, moveable structures, works, plant or machinery placed or ground levels altered 
within any part of the RPA). 

 (b) No mixing of cement or use of other contaminating materials or substances shall take 
place within, or close to, a RPA that seepage or displacement could cause them to enter 
a RPA. 

 (c) Levels shall not be raised or lowered in relation to existing ground levels within the 
RPA of any retained tree or hedgerow. 

 (d) No roots shall be cut, trenches dug or soil removed within the RPA of any retained 
tree or hedgerow. 

 (e) No buildings, hardened areas or other engineering operations shall be constructed 
or carried out within the RPA of any retained tree or hedgerow. 

 (f) No vehicles shall be driven over the area of the RPA of any retained tree or hedgerow. 
  
 Reason: To ensure the wellbeing of trees and hedges to be retained and continuity of 

tree cover and maintaining and enhancing the quality and character of the area, including 
ecological, environmental and biodiversity benefits, having regard to Policies EQ2, EQ4 
and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
08. No development shall take place (including ground works and vegetation clearance) until 

a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP 
(Biodiversity) shall include the following: 

  
 (a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
 (b) Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones'. 
 (c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 

or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements), 
including nesting bird habitat clearance measures, badger informative measures, works 
close to the trees identified as T4 and T5 (referred to in the submitted Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal dated November 2020 prepared by Greenwood Ecology and 
Countryside Management) which have bat roosting potential. 

 (d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 

Page 47



 

 (e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site 
to oversee works. 

 (f) Responsible persons, lines of communication and written notifications of operations 
to the Local Planning Authority. 

 (g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 
competent person. 

 (h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs for retained trees, 
hedgerows, T4 and T5 and other sensitive boundary features. 

  
 The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction 

period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: The agreement of details of a Construction Environmental Management Plan 

prior to the commencement of development is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory level 
of environmental protection; the prevention of harm being caused to the amenity of the 
area; and in the interests of European and UK protected species, having regard to 
Policies EQ2, EQ4 and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance in 
the NPPF. 

 
09. A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be 

approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 
development. The content of the LEMP shall include the following details:  

  
 (a) Description and evaluation of features to be created, restored, protected and 

managed. 
 (b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
 (c) Aims and objectives of management. 
 (d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.  
 (e) Prescriptions for management actions.  
 (f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled 

forward over a five-year period). 
 (g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.  
 (h) On-going monitoring and remedial measures.  
  
 The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the 

long-term implementation of the Plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The Plan shall also set out (where 
the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are 
not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity 
objectives of the originally approved scheme.  

  
 Thereafter, the approved Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details.  
  
 Reason: The agreement of details of a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 

prior to the commencement of development is fundamental to ensure the development 
contributes to the Government's target of no net biodiversity loss as set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy EQ4 of the South Somerset Local Plan, and 
the Council's obligations for biodiversity under the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006. 

 
10. No removal of potential bird nesting habitats, comprised of hedgerows, trees, scrub, 

shrubs and ruderal vegetation shall take place between 1st March and 30th September 
inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of  
vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before works proceed and vegetation is 

Page 48



 

cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there 
are appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such 
written confirmation should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and written 
agreement from the Local Planning Authority so obtained.  

  
 Under no circumstances should blocking bird access to certain areas and features in 

using plastic bird netting hung over the gaps and apertures be carried out, as this can 
lead to entrapment from birds caught in netting. 

  
 Reason: To provide adequate safeguards for nesting birds, which are afforded protection 

under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), having regard to Policy EQ4 
of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
11. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings and within the submitted 

Design, Access and Planning Statement, prior to commencement of any part of the 
development hereby permitted, details of the improved access and new driveway serving 
the new dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include: 

  
 (a) the extent of visibility splays from the access onto the County highway. There shall 

be no obstruction to visibility greater than 900 millimetres above adjoining road level 
within the approved visibility splays. 

 (b) the provision of the new access and driveway to be of a minimum width of 5.0 metres 
over a minimum length of 6.0 metres when measured from the edge of the carriageway. 

 (c) the proposed vehicular access over at least the first 5.0 metres of its length as 
measured from the edge of the adjoining carriageway to be properly consolidated and 
surfaced (not loose stone or gravel). 

 (d) the gradient of the new driveway to not exceed 1;10, for at least the first 6.0 metres 
from the edge of the adopted highway. 

 (e) the provision for the disposal of surface water so as to prevent its discharge onto the 
County highway. 

 (f) the siting, design, appearance and heights of any entrance gates, to be set back a 
minimum of 5.0 metres from the carriageway edge and to be hung to be open inwards in 
order not to overhang the carriageway edge. 

  
 The access and driveway details shall be constructed and completed in accordance with 

the approved details prior to occupation of any of the new dwellings hereby permitted. 
Once constructed, such approved details shall thereafter be retained and maintained at 
all times in perpetuity.  

  
 Reason: The agreement of details of access and driveway prior to the commencement 

of development is fundamental to ensure the implementation of the developmentis 
carried out in the interests of highway safety and public convenience, to prevent loose 
debris, stones, gravel and similar non-compacted material from being deposited onto the 
County highway and to prevent flooding of the highway, in accordance with Policies EQ2 
and TA5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
12. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, prior to 

construction/progression of any part of the development hereby permitted above slab 
level/ground floor level, a schedule of materials and (colour) finishes (including samples 
and trade descriptions/brochure details where appropriate) of materials to be used in the 
external surfaces of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Such a schedule shall include: 

  
 (a) details of the type, size, colour and profile of the natural slates to be fixed to the roofs 

of the buildings, together with type, colour and profile of ridge and hip tiles; 

Page 49



 

 (b) a sample panel of the type of stonework, type of pointing and the mortar to be used, 
measuring not less than two square metres, shall be provided for inspection and written 
approval by the Local Planning Authority prior to the construction of any new walls and 
thereafter kept on site for reference until the stonework is completed. Machine cut or 
sawn faces shall not be used in the walls or for quoin stones. 

 (c) the colour and finish of the timber cladding to be used and a drawn section to show 
its profile, lapping and finish. 

 (d) elevation, plan and vertical sectional drawings at an appropriate scale of all external 
windows and doors (including garage doors) indicating details of their design, 
appearance (including thresholds), profiles, position in wall reveals, opening lights (if 
any), materials, finish and colour, including their method of opening, decorative stone 
surrounds, and materials and finish of all lintels and sills.  

 (e) constructional details at an appropriate scale of all eaves, verges and barge boards. 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all new (and any 
subsequent replacement) fascia boards shall be fitted tight to the wall face and the barge 
shall be finished either with a close fitting timber board or the wall finish taken directly up 
to the underside of the roof covering; 

 (f) the locations, heights, sizes, materials of construction and colour finishes of all flues, 
ducts, rainwater goods, external vents, extracts, external meter / service boxes and any 
other external attachments. All meter /service boxes should be fitted to an internal wall 
where practical and feasible but, if proven to the Local Planning Authority that internal 
siting of meter / service boxes is not practical and feasible then all external wall mounted 
meter /service boxes shall be located away from the primary elevations and prominent 
side walls. 

  
 The development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details and 

completed before the development is first occupied (or completed to a stage previously 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) and thereafter shall be retained and 
maintained in that form, unless the Local Planning Authority gives prior written approval 
to any subsequent variation. 

  
 Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the details of all external 

finishing materials prior to their installation/construction at an appropriate stage in the 
course of the development to ensure that the development displays good design practise 
and reflects local distinctiveness, having due regard to safeguarding visual and 
residential amenity and in accordance with Policy EQ2 of the South Somerset Local Plan 
and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
13. Prior to construction/progression of any part of the development hereby permitted above 

slab level/ground floor level, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping, which shall include 
details of all hardsurfacing materials and the location, number, species, density, form 
and size of proposed tree, hedge and shrub planting (this should include native species 
which occur locally and chosen to provide food for insects on which bats feed), as well 
as details of any changes in existing ground levels, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 The submitted soft landscaping scheme shall include proposals, not only relating to the 

application site edged red on the approved Location Plan no. 4187-LP-01 Rev A, but 
also to the adjoining land edged blue as indicated on said Location Plan. 

  
 The submitted landscaping scheme shall clearly confirm the details, materials, levels and 

dimensions of any intended tree or shrub planting, tree pit design, earth-moulding, 
boundary treatments (for example, hedgerows, fences & walls), seeding, turfing and the 
installation of hard surfaces, driveways and parking spaces.  The scheme shall include 
general site planting enhancement measures including: 

  

Page 50



 

 (a) planting plans (to a recognised scale) and schedules indicating the planting locations, 
planting matrixes, numbers of individual species, sizes, forms, root-types/root volumes 
and the intended timing of planting. Where the landscaping scheme allows, all new trees 
planted on site should ideally be from local native stock, such as field maple, ash, 
hornbeam, dogwood, spindle and beech.   

 (b) the method and specifications for operations associated with planting establishment, 
protection, management and maintenance of all retained and new tree, hedge and shrub 
planting, including the installation details regarding ground-preparation, the use of geo-
textiles, weed-suppression, surface-mulching, strimmer-guarding, staking, supporting 
and tying. 

 (c) existing landscape features such as trees, hedges and shrubs which are to be 
retained and/or removed, accurately plotted (where appropriate); 

 (d) existing and proposed finished levels (to include details of grading and contouring of 
land) and the means of accommodating change in level (e.g. retaining walls, steps, 
railings, walls, gates, ramps, or other supporting structures); 

 (e) location, type and materials to be used for hard surfacing, including specifications 
and details of manufacturer, type and design, colour and bonding pattern where 
appropriate. Samples may be required to be submitted and approved; 

 (f) car parking layout and any other vehicular and pedestrian access and circulation 
areas; 

 (g) the position, design, materials, means of construction of all site enclosures and 
boundary treatments (e.g. fences, walls, railings, hedge(banks)), where appropriate;  

 (h) a management and maintenance plan of all the approved landscaping features; and 
 (i) a timetable for the implementation of the approved hard and soft landscaping scheme. 

All planting comprised in the approved scheme should be carried out within the dormant 
planting season (November to February inclusively) upon or prior to the first occupation 
of the development hereby approved, unless the Local Planning Authority gives prior 
written approval to any variation of this timetable. 

  
 There shall be no excavation or raising or lowering of levels within any prescribed root 

protection areas of retained trees unless previously approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 The approved hard and soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out strictly in 

accordance with the approved timetable of implementation and shall thereafter be 
protected, managed and maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard and enhance the landscape character and visual amenity of the 

area; to help assimilate the development into its immediate surrounds; and to provide 
ecological, environmental and biodiversity benefits, having regard to Policies EQ2, EQ4 
and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
14. For a period of ten years after the completion of the landscaping scheme approved 

pursuant to condition 13, the trees, hedges and shrubs shall be protected and maintained 
in a healthy weed free condition. Any trees, hedges or shrubs that cease to grow or are 
felled, removed, uprooted, destroyed or die, or become in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority seriously damaged, diseased or defective, shall be replaced by trees, 
hedges or shrubs of similar size and species, or other appropriate trees, hedges or 
shrubs as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This replacement 
planting shall be undertaken before the end of the first available planting season 
(October to March inclusive for bare root plants), following the removal, uprooting, 
destruction or death of the original trees or plants. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard and enhance the landscape character and visual amenity of the 

area; to help assimilate the development into its immediate surrounds; and to provide 
ecological, environmental and biodiversity benefits, having regard to Policies EQ2, EQ4 
and EQ5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

Page 51



 

 
15. No external lighting shall be installed on any part of the application site edged red 

(including on any buildings) or the adjoining land edged blue as indicated on the 
approved Location Plan no. 4187-LP-01 without the prior written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 Prior to the erection, installation, fixing, placement and/or operation of any external 

lighting on the site (including on any of the buildings themselves), details of such external 
lighting (including amenity and security lighting) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in the form of a lighting design scheme, including 
through the provision of technical specifications. Such a scheme shall: 

  
 (a) identify those areas/features on site (particularly the boundary features) that are very 

sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites 
and resting places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory, 
for example, for foraging. 

 (b) include the equipment and supporting structures, positions, sizes, heights, type, 
luminance/light intensity, direction and cowling of all external lights to the buildings and 
any other parts of the site edged red (as indicated on the approved Location Plan). 

 (c) show how and where external lighting will be installed through the provision of lux 
lighting contour plans and if appropriate directional lighting of lights with hoods technical 
specifications so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or 
prevent bats from using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting 
places. The boundary features should not exceed 1 lux in regards to light spillage. 

 (d) identify the hours at which such lighting is to be operated, so that it can be clearly 
demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory or 
having access to their resting places. Where PIR timers are to be included, it should be 
shown that timers are going to be set to less than one minute. 

  
 The external lighting shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details (unless the Local Planning Authority gives prior written approval to any 
subsequent variations), and shall thereafter be retained in that form and under no 
circumstances shall it cause light pollution. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the rural character and appearance of the locality; to safeguard 

the residential amenities of owners/occupiers of neighbouring property; to safeguard any 
biodiversity interests; and in the interests of public safety and convenience, having 
regard to Policies EQ2, EQ4 and TA5 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant 
guidance within the NPPF. 

 
16. Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, the following ecological 

enhancement measures shall be erected / constructed / installed into the overall 
development scheme on the application site edged red and the adjoining land edged 
blue as indicated on the approved Location plan no. 4187-LP-01 Rev A, in accordance 
with details indicating the siting and appearance of such measures which shall be 
previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 (a) Two Habibat 001 bat boxes (one on each dwelling) or similar to be built into the 

structures at least four metres above ground level and away from windows of the south 
facing elevations. 

 (b) A cluster of five Schwegler 1a swift bricks (5 on each of the dwellings) or similar to 
be built into the wall at least 60cm apart, at least 5metres above ground level on the 
north facing elevations of the dwellings. 

 (c) One Vivara Pro Woodstone Nest Box (32mm hole version) or similar mounted 
between 1.5 metres and 3 metres high on the northerly facing aspect of trees.  

 (d) One Vivara Pro Barcelona Woodstone Bird Box (open front design) or similar 
mounted between 1.5 metres and 3 metres high on the northerly facing aspect of trees. 

Page 52



 

 (e) Any new fencing to have accessible hedgehog holes, measuring 13cm x 13cm to 
allow the movement of hedgehogs into and out of the site 

 (f) One log pile as a resting place for reptiles and or amphibians constructed on the 
southern boundary. 

  
 Photographs showing the erection or installation of these ecological enhancement 

measures shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority by the applicants/developer 
and the Local Planning Authority shall acknowledge receipt and confirm its acceptance 
of the photograph within 21 days thereafter following its receipt. 

  
 Thereafter, such ecological enhancement features shall be retained and maintained in-

situ and shall not be removed, either in whole or in part, without the prior written approval 
of the Local Planning Authority. Under no circumstances should blocking of these 
approved bat, nest and bird boxes and hedgehog holes be carried out and they shall be 
kept free from vegetation. 

  
 Reason: The provision of, and submission to, and written confirmation of acceptance by, 

the Local Planning Authority of the photographs of the stated ecological enhancement 
measures is fundamental to ensure that the development contributes to the 
Government's target of no net biodiversity loss as set out in the NPPF, Policy EQ4 of the 
South Somerset Local Plan, and obligations for biodiversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 
17. Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, a scheme of foul 

drainage and effluent disposal shall be implemented in accordance with details 
previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be retained and maintained thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard against pollution, having regard to Policies EQ2 and EQ7 of the 

South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 
 
18. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until electric vehicle charging points 

(EVCP's) rated at a minimum of 16 amps has been provided for each dwelling within its 
associated garage and/or parking area. Such provision shall be in accordance with 
details indicating the siting, design, rating and appearance of the EVCP which shall be 
previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure provision of EVCP's for each dwelling for low emission vehicles as 

part of the transition to a low carbon economy, having regard to Policy TA1 of the South 
Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
19. All garaging, parking and turning spaces shall be provided and laid out in accordance 

with the approved plans prior to first occupation of the dwellings, and thereafter shall be 
maintained and retained for such purposes of parking and turning of vehicles (including 
motorcycles and bicycles) incidental to the occupation and enjoyment of the dwellings 
hereby permitted to which they serve, and kept permanently free from any other forms 
of obstruction. Nor shall the proposed garages be used for, or in connection with, any 
commercial trade or business purposes and shall not be converted into habitable 
accommodation, including domestic workshop, study, games room and similar uses, 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To protect the visual and residential amenities of the site and surrounds and to 

ensure that adequate on-site parking and turning spaces are provided and thereafter 
retained to enable vehicles to turn on-site without having to reverse onto the County 
highway, in the interests of and for the safety of persons and vehicles using the 
development and the adjoining road, having regard to Policies EQ2, TA5 and TA6 of the 
South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

Page 53



 

 
20. There shall be no burning of materials arising on site during any phases of site clearance 

and redevelopment and noise emissions from the site during the course of implementing 
the approved development (i.e. any clearance and redevelopment of the site) shall be 
limited to the following hours where noise is audible at any point at the boundary of any 
noise sensitive dwelling: 

  
 Mondays to Fridays inclusive - 08.00 hours to 18.00 hours 
 Saturdays - 08.00 hours to 13.00 hours. 
  
 At all other times, including Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays, there shall be no noisy 

activities carried out on the site which shall be audible from the boundary of any noise 
sensitive dwelling. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard residential amenity of neighbouring residential properties prior to 

and during the construction of the approved development and to ensure there is no 
detrimental effect upon the amenities of the area in accordance with Policies EQ2 and 
EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 

 
21. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking, 
re-enacting or modifying that Order), no development of the types described in the 
following Classes of Schedule 2 shall be undertaken without the express grant of 
planning permission, other than that expressly authorised by this permission: 

  
 (a) Part 1, Class A (enlargements, improvements or other alterations); 
 (b) Part 1, Class B (additions etc to the roof of a dwellinghouse); 
 (c) Part 1, Class C (other roof alterations); and 
 (d) Part 1, Class E (incidental buildings, enclosures, swimming or other pools); 
 (e) Part 2, Class A (gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure); 
 (f) Part 2, Class B (means of access to a highway); 
 (g) Part 2, Class C (exterior painting); 
 (h) Part 14, Classes A and B (solar equipment); 
 (i) Part 14, Classes C and D (ground and water source heat pumps); 
 (j) Part 14, Class G (air source heat pump); 
 (k) Part 14, Classes H and I (wind turbine for microgeneration). 
  
 Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control over development in 

order to: 
  
 (i) safeguard the character and appearance of the development itself and the locality in 

general, by ensuring there are no inappropriate extensions or other alterations within the 
curtilage of the dwelling, or inappropriate fencing, walls or other means of enclosure; 

 (ii) prevent unacceptable harm being caused to the residential amenity of occupiers of 
nearby property;  

 (iii) ensure there is no resultant detriment to ecological, environmental and biodiversity 
interests; 

 (iv) safeguard on-site parking and circulation areas; and 
 (v) ensure there is no unacceptable surface water run-off,  
  
 having regard to Policies EQ1, EQ2, EQ3, EQ4, TA5 and TA6 of the South Somerset 

Local Plan and relevant guidance within the NPPF. 
 
Informatives: 
 
01. Legal Agreement 
This permission shall be read in conjunction with the planning obligation by way of unilateral 

Page 54



 

undertaking dated xxxxx made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended) given by xxxxx to South Somerset District Council and dated xxxxxx 2021. 
 
02. CIL 
Please be advised that approval of this application by South Somerset District Council will 
attract a liability payment under the Community Infrastructure Levy. CIL is a mandatory 
financial charge on development and you will be notified of the amount of CIL being charged 
on this development in a CIL Liability Notice. 
 
You are required to complete and return Form 1 Assumption of Liability as soon as possible 
and to avoid additional financial penalties it is important that you notify us of the date you plan 
to commence development before any work takes place. Please complete and return Form 6 
Commencement Notice. 
 
You are advised to visit our website for further details https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/cil or 
email cil@southsomerset.gov.uk 
 
03. Bats and Bat Roosts 
The developers and their contractors are reminded of the legal protection afforded to bats and 
bat roosts under legislation including the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017.  In the event that bats are encountered during implementation of this permission it is 
recommended that works stop and advice is sought from a suitably qualified, licensed and 
experienced ecologist at the earliest possible opportunity. 
 
04. Birds 
The developer/applicant is reminded of the legal protection afforded to nesting birds under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). In the event that nesting birds are 
encountered during implementation of this permission it is recommended that works stop until 
the young have fledged or then advice is sought from a suitably qualified and experienced 
ecologist at the earliest possible opportunity.  
In the event that vegetation removal will be taking place then further consultation must be 
sought prior to this. 
 
05. Shrub Planting 
In respect of condition 13, all new shrubs must be high nectar producing to encourage a range 
of invertebrates to the site, to provide continued foraging for bats. The shrubs must also appeal 
to night-flying moths which are a key food source for bats. The Royal Horticultural Society 
guide, "RHS Perfect for Pollinators, www.rhs.org.uk/perfectforpollinators" provides a list of 
suitable plants both native and non-native. 
 
06. Lighting 
In respect of condition 15, light could cause nuisance to ecological interests. Any lighting 
should be screened to minimise direct illumination falling on land outside of the development. 
Appropriate shields, baffles, louvres or diffusers should be installed prior to their use to ensure 
that nuisance to nearby properties is minimised. As well as giving consideration to direct glare, 
any lighting scheme shall also take into account upward reflection. Any lighting scheme should 
be designed in accordance with the Institute of Lighting Engineers "Guidance Notes" for the 
Reduction of Light Pollution (2011) or similar guidance recognised by the Council, and also 
Guidance Note 08/18 "Bats and artificial lighting in the UK", issued by the Bat Conservation 
Trust and Institution of Lighting Professionals. 
 
 
07. Highway Works 
The applicant may be required to secure a licence from the Highway Authority for works on or 
adjacent to the highway necessary as part of this development, and the applicant is advised 
to contact Somerset County Council to progress this agreement at least four weeks before 
starting such works. 

Page 55


	Agenda
	8 South Somerset Community Accessible Transport Update
	Appendix A SSCAT - 2021-2022 Update for Area East Committee

	9 Community Grant to Brewham Village hall Restoration Project - Phase 2 External works (Executive Decision)
	10 Phosphates Update
	11 Area East Forward Plan
	12 Planning Appeals (For Information)
	Appeal Decision 3264973
	208 - Appeal(s) withdrawn 12 Jan 2022

	13 Schedule of Planning Applications to be Considered by Committee
	14 Planning Application 20/03423/FUL - Land East Of Coombe Cross , Stowell Lane, Horsington, Templecombe, BA8 0DD

